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To Begin With,
A Cautionary Tale . . .



IN 1986, I received an invitation to take part in a BBC production called It’s a Right Royal Knockout. The offer didn’t come through my agent but via a man I met in a pub, who I later found out was one of Jeremy Thorpe’s many lovers. (One of Thorpe’s favourite pick-up lines was to approach attractive young men who were looking through the windows of Mayfair antique shops and enquire ‘See anything you like?’ I have long been fascinated by Thorpe, as my father was once offered a peerage by the former Liberal leader in return for a massive donation to the party. He also became involved in a murder plot to kill one of Thorpe’s troublesome ex-lovers.)

This fellow I was chatting to in my favourite watering hole in Soho, the Colonial Club (of which more, much more, later) – who cheerfully admitted that he had once attempted to blackmail Thorpe – said he knew a colleague of Prince Edward and that this chap had informed him that the young royal had an idea to base a ‘royalty-themed’ programme for the BBC on the format of It’s A Knockout (a particularly popular – though ludicrous – game show of the time hosted by the notorious sex-pest presenter Stuart Hall). We were having quite a jolly time in the pub and were soon joined by a TV producer, Mews Frumpty, whom I knew through Ken Dodd’s personal skincare assistant. Frumpty was also very aware of Edward’s plan (as he was the producer of the show) and in fact broke the news that I was ‘in the frame’ to appear as one of the contestants.

As he explained, the idea was basically that Edward and other members of the Royal Family would captain four teams consisting of celebrities, politicians and sports people. The teams would play each other in silly and ridiculous games while the gullible general public watched at home and donated money to charity. The cash was initially proposed to go directly, tax free, to the Royal Family, but the Home Secretary at the time, Douglas Hurd, was reluctantly forced to intervene and politely suggest to Edward that it would be a more popular move with the general public to raise money for the homeless, old people, disabled, etc. (Ironically groups of people that somebody close to the Royal Family subsequently told me Princess Margaret absolutely loathed.)

At first the captains were meant to be Stuart Hall, Gary Glitter, Jimmy Savile and Leon Brittan, but at the suggestion of Princess Michael of Kent, it was decided that each team leader should be a royal, so Prince Edward, the Princess Royal (Anne Windsor), the Duke of York (Andrew ‘Randy Andy’ Windsor) and the Duchess of York (Sarah ‘Fergie’ Ferguson) were elected to take charge of the celebrities. (‘The first time they were elected for anything,’ quipped the famously republican and anti-royalist Dennis Skinner.) The celebs pencilled in to take part were a veritable ‘who’s who’ of British sport, politics and entertainment: Valerie Singleton, Des Lynam, Virginia Wade, Lord Hailsham, George Best, John Lydon, Vivienne Westwood, Eddie the Eagle and Melvin Bragg were all approached but either declined or were unavailable. However, Toyah Wilcox, Barry McGuigan, Christopher Reeve, Steve Cram, Tessa Sanderson, Sarah Hardcastle, John Cleese, Captain Beefheart, Nicholas Lyndhurst, Dame Tiri Te Kanawa, Duncan Goodhew, Debbie Flintoff, Gerry Adams, Cliff Richard, Emlyn Hughes, Jenny Agutter, Kevin Kline, Jackie Stewart, Peter Blake, Walter Payton, Virginia Leng, Sunil Gavankar, Anthony Andrews, Tom Jones, Sheena Easton, Mark E. Smith, Judy Simpson, Anneka Rice, Fiona Fullerton, Gary Lineker, Ben Dover, George Lazenby, Michael Palin, Nigel Mansell, John Travolta, Margot Kidder, Steve Podolski, Tamara McKinney, Meat Loaf, Pamela Stephenson, Brian Cooper, Mel Smith, Jane Seymour, Chris De Burgh, Viv Richards, Keith Richards, Gail Greenough, Michael Brandon, Ben Cross and Steve Cauthen agreed to take part. I’m not usually star-struck, but this line-up seemed rather impressive (even though I’d never heard of most of them). I told Frumpty then and there that I was interested.

After my participation in the programme had been confirmed, I was collected by car at about 6 a.m. on the day of the tournament to take me to the venue at Alton Towers, where a lavish set, based on Windsor Castle and costing several million pounds, had been constructed. No sooner had I arrived when I was met by my agent, Jane (who, as usual, was keen to ‘hobnob’ with members of the Royal Family). She told me that the producers (including Frumpty) were in a hastily convened conference, as there were now some doubts about whether George Lazenby would take his place in the star-studded line-up. On seeing Prince Philip, the Australian actor and ex-model had had a nervous reaction and panicked, then taken all his clothes off and locked himself in his car. A flurry of phone calls were now taking place between Prince Edward and Lazenby’s agent in Melbourne. Less than twenty years earlier, Lazenby had walked away from the lucrative James Bond role, so how would the fiercely independent and competitive star react if he was on the losing side in a giant cabbage-throwing competition?1 Finally, a deal was thrashed out where George would receive an extra two hundred and fifty pounds and would not be asked to deal with any flying vegetables or take part in any games which could be deemed disrespectful of Australia.

But then, quite unexpectedly, just as I was changing into my royal costume, I was hit by what can only be described as a whizzbang of a bombshell. Suddenly, from completely out of the blue, word emerged that the Jamaican singer Eddy Grant had expressed an interest in taking part in the show. (Grant was an eighties pop star, like Culture Club or Duran Duran, and by that point had had a string of two hits, ‘I Don’t Want To Dance’ and ‘Electric Avenue’.) As a result, I was ruthlessly and unceremoniously dropped to make way. I was obviously completely stunned. When I complained to Mews Frumpty, he told me in no uncertain terms to ‘Go fuck yourself. Eddy Grant has expressed an interest in taking part; there’s no room for you now, so sling your hook and fuck off home.’ When I asked for a car to take me back to my flat, I was told that none were available and that as the BBC were also unwilling to pay my train or bus fare I had little choice but to walk back to London. (After three miles, I eventually hitched a lift from a gypsy driving a horse and cart.) I was so disgusted by my treatment that I was physically sick and vowed never to get involved in a charity event involving the Royal Family ever again. (A vow I was to break a decade later, with equally disastrous consequences – See Chapter 12.)
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Sheena Easton: a participant in the BBC’s infamous It’s A Right Royal Knockout TV show in 1987. I was unceremoniously bumped off the show to make way for Eddy Grant. (When I asked the BBC to use a photograph from the programme for this book, they flatly refused, informing my publishers that images from the show are - almost thirty years later - ‘embargoed’.)



It was, then, with a certain schadenfreude that I watched the programme when it eventually aired on television. It was such a shambles and a travesty of everything that Britain and the Royal Family stood for that I began to feel that my last-minute sacking had been a lucky escape. The royals, politicians and celebrities who took part made complete fools of themselves playing those childish and frankly embarrassing games (which were often dangerously teetering on the edge of being sexually humiliating), and very few of them ever appeared on television again. The reviewer of the Evening Standard called it ‘an absolute atrocity – on a moral scale similar to a war crime . . . The worst thing I have ever seen, anywhere . . . Everybody involved in the programme should be put up against a wall and shot.’

It was obvious that Prince Edward himself felt it had gone badly. Famously, at a press conference which happened immediately after the show, he asked the assembled journalists what they had made of it. One reporter chirped up with ‘A pile of shit, Your Majesty.’ At this, Edward lost his cool completely and an unseemly fist fight broke out between him and several of the reporters. He was eventually dragged away, kicking and screaming, by the Duke of York. An ambulance was called to take several reporters, who had been quite badly injured by the irate prince (who had been carrying a concealed flick knife and had used it skilfully and with brute force) away to the local hospital.
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My next meeting with Mews Frumpty was when he was producing the BBC quiz programme Have I Got News for You. Although largely forgotten now, this was quite a popular show in the early nineties. Again it featured the winning, although often combustible, combination of stand-up comedians and politicians. Household names such as Bernard Manning and Margaret Thatcher made regular appearances. There is nothing that the public loves more than comedians ‘having a go’ at politicians, and this was a programme that ticked all the boxes. The unfortunate fuddy-duddy, Eton-educated, out-of-touch, be-suited politico selected was forced to squirm uncomfortably as the hip young comedians (who mostly wore T-shirts with anti-establishment slogans) abused, humiliated and degraded them in front of the cameras to the delight of the viewers at home.

After the original presenter died whilst on a trip to Africa with Comic Relief, actors were sometimes asked to take turns hosting the show, and one evening I received a call from Frumpty asking if I would like to take on the role. I was a little wary, and not just because of my previous calamitous experience with the producer on the Royal Knockout programme. I’m not an expert on politics or current affairs, and I wasn’t certain if I was the right man for the job, but I was assured that everything on the show was completely scripted and read off an autocue. Absolutely nothing was allowed to be improvised.

When we met over lunch in Soho2 to discuss the idea further, the pipe-smoking Frumpty was very persuasive and charming (he always wore a bow tie and a blazer with ‘BBC’ emblazoned on the pocket), and told me I’d be an ideal host. He said that he had long admired my wit and erudition, and had always made sure to avidly watch every TV show or theatrical production I’d appeared in. He told me he had a scrapbook dedicated to my career and, with schoolboy enthusiasm, diligently pasted in every good review and notice he came across in the press.3 Basically, he was a huge fan. He was gushing in his praise almost to the point of embarrassment, and his flattery eventually won me round. He told me, though, that due to cutbacks, the hostility of the Blair government and the resultant failure of the BBC to obtain an increase in the licence fee, the corporation was still unable to afford taxis to take ‘talent’ to the studio.4 After an uncomfortable Tube trip to Wembley (where the programme was recorded every week), I had a half-hour walk, in pouring rain, to the studio. About an hour or so later, I was about to go into make-up when Frumpty took me aside. He told me that there had been a development. He had bumped into Ned Sherrin and instantly decided that he would be a better host for the show. Sherrin had immediately agreed to take on the role. When I protested, he was blunt to the point of rudeness and said, ‘Sherrin’s doing it now. There’s no place for you – sling your hook and fuck off home.’

Needless to say, I had another half-hour walk to Wembley Park Tube station (it was still pouring with rain). I then discovered that the station had closed due to flooding, and I had to walk fifteen miles home. The humiliation was complete when, still seven or eight miles from my flat, and completely exhausted, I stopped to thumb a lift at the side of the road. Who should pass me but Frumpty driving his Jaguar. He saw me and slowed down. I could see Ian Hislop, Paul Merton and some prostitutes in the back seat, all sharing a bottle of champagne. Frumpty then quickly gave me the Harvey Smith ‘v’ (‘Fuck off’) sign, before speeding away, laughing his head off all the time.

If I needed any further indication about what an absolute bunch of cunts the BBC were, this was it.

One would think that after two unfortunate experiences like this, I’d be wary of working with such a shithead ever again. But some years later, I bumped into Frumpty at a party to launch the BBC’s autumn schedule. I arrived late,5 and out of the corner of my eye I saw him chatting to Clive Anderson. My immediate instinct was to walk away to a far corner of the room, but the BBC man immediately approached me as if I was a long-lost friend. ‘Steven!’ he said. ‘How lovely to see you!’ He was immediately apologetic about the Royal Knockout and HIGNFY fiascos, and asked if I’d be interested in hosting a new ballroom dancing show that was in development.

I know next to nothing about ballroom dancing, and when he told me the concept – celebrities partnering experts in a dancing competition as viewers voted off the most hopeless exponents – I thought it was literally the worst idea I’d ever heard. Having been unceremoniously dumped off the two previous shows produced by Frumpty, I was also obviously very wary of being ‘stung’ again. However, the Old Etonian was, as usual, very persuasive and charming, and told me, ‘I really, really, really, really want you to do this.’ So I agreed to meet him for lunch at the Colonial Club the next day to thrash out the details further. Upon turning up an hour late, he immediately bought the most expensive bottle of wine available and proceeded to tell me how much this new project meant to him and why I was his number-one choice to host the show. ‘I swear to you, Steven, the only way this show is going to happen is if you host it. I wouldn’t consider anybody else, no matter how famous or popular they are with the public.’ He also told me, ‘The only reason that this show cannot be called “Steven Toast’s Strictly Come Dancing” is due to rights issues. I am desperate to get you involved.’ He then spoke in very moving terms about how he’d been abused as a child, his resultant alcoholism and divorce, and why he thought that producing this show, with me hosting it, would finally bring him closure. He also promised to ‘break the bank’ and to pay me ‘top dollar’ for my services. He was certainly very convincing, and after talking to Jane about putting in place safeguards to prevent the previous experiences with Frumpty being repeated, I agreed to host.

About a month later, I arrived at the studios (via Tube – the BBC again claiming that they were unable to provide or pay for transport) and was just about to go into the costume department when I saw a helicopter land on the roof. Out stepped Bruce Forsyth, who was immediately greeted by Frumpty as if they were bosom buddies. After trying on various suits, I returned to my dressing room to find that it was locked. There was a note stuck to the door from Frumpty asking me to see him in the green room. When I arrived, he told me that I was no longer needed to host the show; Bruce Forsyth was taking over. When I protested vehemently, he told me that when our initial conversation over lunch had taken place, the programme was proposed to be broadcast on a BBC channel called ‘Dave’ (needless to say, I’d never heard of this rather ‘folksy’-sounding station). However, the men in suits had subsequently decided that Strictly (as he referred to it throughout our conversation) was now going to air on BBC1 and that they would need a household name to front it.

‘Frankly, you don’t fit the bill,’ he told me in the most arrogant fashion. ‘Bruce is doing it now – he is a world-famous star, and absolutely nobody, apart from a handful of elitist toffs who have seen you in shit plays, knows who you are. Sling your hook and fuck off home.’

Yet again pleading penury like a destitute tramp/liar in a novel by Charles Dickens, he said that there was no money to pay for my transport, so I would have to make my own way back to my flat. When I arrived at the Tube station, another lightning strike had been called by the union, and the worst thunderstorm in fifty years had broken over London. I had to walk many miles home in the pouring rain.

[image: images]

I swore that I would never be foolish enough to fall for the dubious charm of Mews Frumpty a fourth time, but I’ve always found my professional experiences useful in some way, even if at the time they felt painful and humiliating. Talking to fellow actors, I found that my treatment at the hands of the BBC was far from untypical – in fact, not just the BBC, but television in general – and, indeed, every area of show business. Overall, almost everybody I’ve met in the theatre, film, radio drama and voice-over spheres has been appalling. The moral standing of 99 per cent of people in this business would be on a par with the Einsatzgruppen Nazi extermination squads which operated in Eastern Europe in the period 1941–4. Dishonest, lying, cheating, scheming two-faced fuckers are the absolute norm in my line of work.

So when I meet young actors starting out, I warn them about this – time after time. However, for whatever reason, the lure of the greasepaint is still as strong as when Shakespeare and Noël Coward decided that a job in the local sewage works wasn’t for them and that they would dedicate their lives to treading the boards. (Or in Shakespeare’s case, I should probably say ‘treading the “Bards!”’) Laurence Olivier once said that all the hard work was worth it just to hear that audience applause at the end of an evening. Well, it isn’t, but I have a tale to tell and wisdom to impart. So here it is: my story; my advice to young actors; my warts and all . . .



1 When Lazenby had first seen the Prince, he (Prince Philip) had been carrying two large cabbages. Although not connected with the tournament, the Australian had initially suspected that the vegetables might be thrown at him as part of the day’s events.

2 Frumpty insisted on buying a hugely expensive bottle of champagne and a gigantic portion of caviar.

3 I subsequently discovered that this was a complete lie.

4 This also turned out to be untrue, as I saw Ian Hislop pull up in a chauffeur-driven Rolls Royce.

5 I had been to a doctor for an anti-tetanus jab after being bitten by a wolf in Scotland.
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From Whence I
Came . . .



BUT FIRST, SOME background information: Who is Steven Toast?

It’s an odd process, isn’t it? A man does his business into a woman, and nine or ten months later a human being emerges. An embryo becomes a foetus, becomes a baby, becomes a man. Picture it! I was once a fertilised egg travelling at full speed down a metal-like fallopian tube before attaching myself to the inside of a uterus. Barbara Windsor, Peter Mandelson, Will Carling, Nelson Mandela, the woman in charge of the Scottish Nationalists, Lester Piggott . . . we have all made the same journey. Every single one of us on this earth. I often think of all this and a strong, though peculiar, mental image forms into my head.

I’ve come a long way . . .

Meet the parents: father an ex-military man, World War II veteran, at the time of my birth a businessman. Mother – I knew so little about her for so long; many years later I discovered she harboured a dark secret. Apart from my brother, I am an only child. Blair is older. When I cry, he tells me to get a grip of myself – already showing the strong leadership skills which will eventually see him reach a senior rank in the armed forces. The first time he tells me this he is three years of age – I am two and a half.

Where are we? Cheshire at the time of my birth. But we will move around a lot during my childhood. We always seem to be marooned somewhere in the countryside. Father is away a lot. Mother has a friend: Frank Forfolk. He is a famous ‘around the world’ yachtsman. He is so well known to the public he has written an autobiography, Forfolk’s Sake. There he is on the cover – smiling; confident; some might say even smug. He wears a smart navy-blue blazer with a handkerchief neatly folded in his breast pocket. A white sailor’s hat sits merrily on his head. Mother keeps his book on the bedside table. When Father returns from his travels, she hides it in the wardrobe beside her pills. There is also a small box beside her bed, near the stuffed fox Father once brought back from New Zealand and copies of The Ladies’ Home Journal. Our maid, Chelsea Bladdersby, tells us it is for ‘French letters’. Who are these French people writing to Mother, we wonder!

Blair has a toy – ‘Oswald Moseley’. It is a stuffed puppet which used to be a penguin.6 My brother has transformed it. It now wears a black uniform with its right arm permanently fixed in a Nazi salute. Blair marches the mini-fascist up and down the corridor outside our room. ‘You be the Jews,’ Blair commands me. He is intent on recreating the Battle of Cable Street, which happened in 1936. I say no, I want to go outside. I wander to the end of the garden. There is a bucket and spade in the small shed near the bluebells. My plan is to fetch them and play in the sandpit over by the stables. I approach warily – I can hear noises coming from inside. What are these strange grunts and groans? I discovered later that they were ‘sex’ noises; noises that I would joyfully recreate myself many times over the following years when I found myself in the throes of pleasurable ecstasy. But at the time, I didn’t know what the hell they were. I throw open the door of the shed. My mother is inside with Frank Forfolk. He is naked from the waist down, his old-fashioned one-piece bathing costume around his ankles, his moustache visibly twitching. I notice that his balls are still wobbling. He has just performed the task of men the world over. At that very moment, a potential half-brother could be clattering its way along Mother’s fallopians. ‘What are you doing here?!’ gasps my mother. She turns to Frank. ‘The younger boy,’ she screams. ‘Flip off!’ Franks tells me in no uncertain terms. I run back to the house, climb the stairs and launch myself on to my bed. I cry. I am sad and despondent.

I often wonder about this scene. Did it have any long-term effect? Probably not is the most honest answer I can give, and yet, for some reason, I remember it vividly. The psychiatrists and sociologists would no doubt have a field day with this type of thing, but to me it was no big deal in the grand scheme of things. Neither was the fact that Frank was a bigamist7 and my mother was greatly confused about her sexuality – although in latter years I did see it as a most unorthodox relationship.

I remember that Frank occasionally took me and Blair to the pictures. A friend of Frank’s was president of an independent film club which specialised in showing naturist titles such as Naked As Nature Intended and Fiddlesticks. I have a clear memory of seeing these at the time with Frank and his friend. (This would have been some years later when Blair and I were eighteen and a half and nineteen.) My mother had a few concerns about Frank showing us these type of movies, but when he explained to her that sex had little or nothing to do with naturism, she relented; in fact, she even joined us on several later trips. (Interestingly, the cartoons shown before the main feature were also naturist themed.) As we didn’t have a television at home and visits to the cinema were rare, this was the first ‘real acting’ I had probably ever seen. Most of it was throwing beach balls up in the air and boiling pans of water in a grassy area near the beach,8 but it fascinated me nonetheless. Soon I forgot about the tits and bums and focused on the expressions on the performers’ faces. What is she portraying in that scene? Delight? Bashful innocence? Cheeky defiance? It was all rather fascinating. And some of the acting was actually rather good.

[image: images]


[image: images]

Frank Forfolk’s yacht, The Leviathan, lies abandoned off the Cornish coast in 1980. Frank was a close friend of my mother’s, and sparked my interest in acting by regularly taking me to see naturist films.



Some years earlier, when I was nine years old, my family life had taken a turn for the worse when Blair shot and killed two men. Blair was always more precocious than me, but to actually kill two people was not something myself or my parents could have predicted. He always had a great love of ammunition and weaponry of all sorts and from a very young age was continually firing off rifles and shotguns around the house – at one stage he even managed to acquire a machine gun. My father mostly saw this as understandable given Blair’s high spirits and took it as a hopeful sign that this particular son was destined for a career in the army (he was right!). The details of the double killing are still shrouded in mystery.9 The victims were gypsies – luckily for Blair not a strand of society much loved or valued by the forces of law and order – and after a few phone calls were made by my father the authorities agreed not to take any further action. The bloody event was rarely discussed in our house but was generally referred to as ‘the misunderstanding’. Blair has never apologised for, nor fully explained, the incident, but if I want to embarrass him at family get-togethers, all I have to do is refer to any trivial event as ‘a misunderstanding’!

Four years later, Blair also developed a keen interest in flogging. Although I was never as intrigued by firearms as much as Blair was, I did become somewhat fascinated by flogging. It was perhaps the only interest we had in common. I remember at one point Blair had a book which he borrowed from the library about the history of flagellation in the armed forces. I forget its name, but it was a hefty illustrated tome which featured rather gruesome and detailed images of the hideous injuries that can be inflicted on the human body after a good going-over by an expert trained in the art of whipping somebody half to death. The close-up, detailed studies of the immense damage done to human flesh by a professional whip-master made a lasting impression: the skin hanging in ribbons from the back and buttocks of the hapless victim, the red welts and purple lesions, the oozing sores, the blood and exposed tendons. All these graphic and grisly illustrations were absolutely fascinating to my innocent mind. I must have pored over them for days on end. My mother dragged me away from my reading, always under extreme protest, for meals and bath times.

As well as the process itself, I found the history of flagellation, birching, lashing and caning compelling. I became very familiar with ingenious instruments of torture of the past such as the cat o’ nine tails, the sjambok, the jemmy-jammer, the flapjack and the shirky-shandy. The shirky-shandy was particularly devilish. It resembled an ordinary whip but had tiny razor blades implanted on the end. On contact with the victim, these razors would gorge out clumps of flesh in four- or five-inch sections, often exposing the bone and inner organs and, on one occasion, as documented in The Oakenshaw Navy Annual of 1834, the spinal cord! The torn-out lumps of flesh would often be flung across deck, hitting onlooking sailors in the mouth and face. It was a grim reminder that discipline in the armed services had to be enforced mercilessly and without sentiment.

[image: images]

It was around this time of my flagellation infatuation, just before my fourteenth birthday, that I had my first awkward, fumbling encounters with the opposite sex (it would be another twelve years until I would officially become a non-virgin through the traditional method of having sex in a bed). I met a lady who threw open the doors of physical love and let me in. Although I have been with many, many women since,10 I would never forget my first eye-opening experiences with this remarkable vixen.

For the previous two or three years, I had felt my body changing and began experiencing emotions which were hitherto unknown to me. Frank Forfolk had warned me that this type of thing was going to occur, and we had discussed it at length on several occasions. In fact, he had organised several fishing trips which we went on together specifically so that we could explore these topics alone and far from prying eyes. Frank’s predictions about what was about to happen to my frail adolescent mind and body were absolutely spot on: I developed odd, romantic crushes on jackdaws and thrushes, and found myself rubbing up against Christmas trees and oak furniture. I had up to a dozen ‘wet dreams’ every night and several times during the day. Against Frank’s advice, my mother promptly took me to the doctor as a result of these emissions, and I was prescribed drugs usually administered to horses to regulate their hormones.

‘Julie’ (I am using a pseudonym here for reasons which will become clear later) was a woman who was probably in her late sixties when she came into my world, although, as my mother often remarked, ‘she smelt older’. She was a farm labourer by trade and had been in the merchant navy during the war, where she had been locked up in the brig many times for fighting. This probably paints a portrait of a gregarious, fun-loving, vivacious woman, but she was also nobody’s fool: an experienced warrior who had been abandoned at an early age by her parents and forced to fend for herself in trying circumstances.

Her contact with my family came about as a result of a visit to our house when she informed my mother that one of her goats had gone missing, and asked that if we saw any stray animals on our land perhaps we could report it. When a goat did indeed wander on to a field on our property, she was duly informed and my father drove the animal (which had, rather alarmingly, been obviously badly mistreated – presumably by Julie) over to her cottage. This marked the beginning of a long friendship between Julie and my father. It was a highly unusual relationship, because they had absolutely nothing in common. However, they would spend long periods together, especially in Julie’s shed at the bottom of her garden. Once they got locked in, and the fire brigade had to be called out to release them. Another time they went on a month-long trip to Palm Springs in the United States – another visit connected to my father’s mysterious business dealings.

One day, after Blair and my parents had gone to visit some relatives, I found myself alone in the kitchen at home. It was late afternoon, and I was playing with a model aeroplane. I suddenly heard a commotion from outside, looked over and saw that Julie was standing naked at the window. I was shocked by this sight, as she was a very large, matronly lady with an absolutely enormous set of bosoms (obviously – and unusually for those days – surgically enhanced) which were pressed up tightly against the pane. She beckoned me over, and I opened the window. She said that a gust of wind had blown away her clothes and could she come in for a drink? After some hesitation, I let her into the house but told her I didn’t know if there was any alcohol around. At this she searched the building from top to bottom until she found a bottle of vodka in the scullery. She then returned to the living room and asked me if I wanted some. I have to say, I was very curious about alcohol at this time and was sorely tempted to imbibe a drop or two. My father was sometimes drunk around the house and would shout his head off, lambasting politicians, members of the clergy and former business partners. What effect did alcohol have on his mind to reduce him to such a state? I was curious indeed.

I thus shared a bottle with Julie, who told me lurid tales of her time in the merchant navy, one memorable story describing a period of shore leave in Dar es Salaam where she wrestled and killed a hyena. During the course of the evening – I forget exactly when – I became a ‘man’, and we celebrated with some lighter fluid Julie found in a kitchen drawer (the vodka having run out at that stage). She told me that under no circumstances was I to tell my parents what had happened between us, as a lengthy jail term would be the likely outcome for both of us. I certainly had no intention of letting anybody at all know about our sordid and degrading, but also highly exciting, encounter!11

Some months after this incident, Julie drifted out of our lives. At Christmas that year, I remember seeing her face on a poster which had been put up around the local village: ‘MISSING: IF FOUND, PLEASE CONTACT POLICE . . . REWARD – SEVEN SHILLINGS AND SIX PENCE’. (I was unclear who had put up these posters. As far as I knew, Julie had no living relatives in the locality; I have since come to the conclusion that it was probably my father who was responsible.)

Although my encounter with Julie was memorable for obvious reasons, I soon forgot about her. I presumed I would never come across her again, but to my very great surprise she subsequently emerged as ‘a rising star’ in Tony Blair’s administration in the late 1990s and became quite a familiar face as one of ‘Blair’s Babes’. (She eventually became a junior minister.)
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School days were largely uneventful. I boarded at my father’s old school in Shropshire.12 I was given the nickname ‘Arseface’ and was a diligent, although largely uninterested, pupil. (Blair was in the form above me and soon became president of the school’s Fascist Society.) I was good at some sports (fencing, lacrosse) and not much use at others (rugby, swimming, power-walking). There was a modest amount of homosexuality amongst the pupils but not enough to install a long-term interest. I developed a bit of a crush on the school matron, Kate Lethargy, and in fact many years later summoned up enough courage to ask her out on an age-inappropriate date.13

People presume – I have been asked this so many times – that I must have been the star pupil of the school drama society. The truth is, I took little interest in drama at the time. While sport was prized, and any boys who were good at rugger in particular were popular and well liked, anybody who professed an interest in acting was a ‘poof’ or a ‘jessy’ or a ‘cream cheese’. In fact, many of these boys were also in the much despised embroidery class, taken once a month by a Boer War veteran called Fancy Alexander. I remember chatting to my geography teacher, Dinky Crittenburst, about these lads who attended drama classes twice a week. ‘You don’t want to go near those poofs and jessies and cream cheeses, Toast,’ he said. ‘None of those fools are going to get a job in acting or presenting television shows or anything like that. Complete waste of fucking time.’

So why did I eventually decide to become an actor? Considering the incredible success I have had in TV and film and on the stage, it seems strange to relate that the decision was more or less completely arbitrary. The chronology went something like this: with my time at public school coming to an end, my thoughts inevitably turned to a career. Up until that moment I had given little consideration to my future, but when one is young, one lives very much ‘in the moment’. At Easter time, just before my final term, I was called into the study of my headmaster, Pik Shovely, and asked what I wanted to do with my life. I have to say I really hadn’t a clue how to respond, and perhaps solely because it began with the letter ‘a’, I said ‘acting’. I could easily just have said ‘advertising’, (being an) ‘alderman’ or ‘absailing’. Shovely nodded at this hastily improvised reply, muttered under his breath (something like ‘he’s not going to be any good at that’), and I was then told to leave and ‘send the next one in’.

I told my parents about my career choice on the school sports day of that final term. I wasn’t quite sure how they would react, and I remember Mother and Father sitting in silence in our old three-wheeled Hillman Imp for what seemed an eternity after I imparted the news. It seemed like an eternity, but in hindsight it was more realistically two or three hours. The tension was finally broken when my father became suddenly quite agitated, forced open the glove box and extracted a gun and a half bottle of whisky. He then fired a few shots through the roof and proceeded to drink the whisky rapidly in a series of loud gulps. He proceeded to push me and my mother out of the car and drove away at high speed through the front gates of the school, completely demolishing a prize-winning beech tree, which had been located there since the fifteenth century, in the process.

My mother, always calm in moments of crisis, then suggested that we go for a walk around the cricket pitch.

My announcement became, without either of us planning it, an opportunity for her to express her innermost thoughts, reveal suppressed feelings and expose long-hidden anxieties. As with so many women of her generation, Mother found it difficult to communicate with her children and up until that point had been something of a mystery to me. I knew little of her background, although the basic facts were familiar: she had had a comfortable upbringing in Bath, seen service as a WREN in World War II, met my father in India, then settled down to the life of an ordinary middle-class housewife, raising her two sons and becoming involved in the local branch of the Women’s Institute.

During our walk, she filled me in with some more details of her life. She mentioned her affair with Frank Forfolk in bitter terms. I got the impression that she had loved him but that he was a complete twerp. She opened up more and more to me, and I found out things that I had never known before: for instance that, while in India, she had killed seven elephants as a big-game hunter and another three in a road accident. But the main revelation that truly knocked me for six was something that I never would have expected in a million years: she had recently decided to undergo a sex-change operation. She explained, somewhat hesitantly, that she had been receiving counselling on the matter for the previous six months, and some minor surgery had already taken place.14 She eventually hoped to become a man named ‘Des’. This major decision had put further strain on her marriage, which explained why my father was, by now, drinking heavily. She had also discovered that, after drunkenly pleading with her to have another child with him – surely an impossibility both because of her age (late fifties) and the sex-reassignment surgery – my father had said that he wished to leave her and go and live in Southend.

By the time we returned to the main school to order a taxi, it was after midnight and pitch-dark.

It had been an eventful and revealing chat with my mother, but I felt emotionally exhausted afterwards and was secretly rather happy that I would soon be heading to London and leaving family life behind.



6 Not a real penguin; a puppet penguin.

7 Revealed in Forfolk’s second volume of memoirs Even More – Forfolk’s Sake. Frank lived to the great age of 105. He died a few years ago when he forgot to turn his iPhone to ‘Airplane Mode’ during a flight from Lahore to Calcutta. As a result, the plane crashed and two hundred people perished.

8 There were also some more athletic pursuits, such as javelin throwing and nude tennis.

9 In very different circumstances, my agent Jane would also kill two men.

10  See index.

11 Some years later I discovered that Julie had planned this seduction in cahoots with Frank and that he had watched the whole scene whilst hiding in a wardrobe.

12 Now a branch of Pret A Manger.

13 She died of an age-related illness the very next day!

14 Performed, as I later found out, by a garage mechanic with no training in sex-reassignment surgery.
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Bright Lights,
Big City . . .



RADA! THE ROYAL Academy of Dramatic Acting! It has an exciting ring to it even now. When I entered the famous building on Gower Street for the first time, I didn’t even know much about acting at all (as explained in Chapter 2, this career choice was an impulsive, on-the-spot decision to which I had given little or no thought). I can honestly say that, unlike so many, I was never literally bitten by the acting ‘bug’, and yet it was obvious from my first day that I had a rather special talent. It was still somewhat raw, unhoned, visceral and primitive, but for anyone who had the good fortune to see it, magical and effervescent. Of course I listened (with an increasingly jaded ear, it must be said) to RADA’s tutors, but it was pretty clear from early on that I had little to learn from them. Acting to me was, and is, straightforward: you see the words on the page; memorise them; then say them out loud.15 What I remember mostly from my first year was the feeling of jealousy and envy which emanated from my fellow students. It was never mentioned, but it was something I was intensely aware of. I knew they were all thinking Who is this chap who hardly gave acting a thought up until his last term in school, but now is supreme amongst us? Whilst I, with a vocation for the craft since the age of five, am not as good. Anybody else saying something like this could be regarded as an arrogant prick, but in my case it was undoubtedly true. Nevertheless, the taste of sour grapes amongst my classmates was palpable.
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The Royal Academy Of Dramatic Acting in Gower Street. Acting was a BIG part of what RADA was all about.



I was not unaware, however, that RADA was a veritable mecca of acting. Nearly all the classes one attended were about acting; most of the tutors taught acting; there were photographs and paintings of actors everywhere; and many actors had passed through its hallowed walls. Even the ‘Acting’ bit in the title, ‘The Royal Academy of Dramatic ACTING’,16 indicated this activity was a BIG part of what RADA was all about. Everybody from Bob Dylan to Jean-Claude Van Damme had trained there, and if one was to learn to be an actor, then it wasn’t a bad place to start. But I did begin to find all this talk of ‘thes-pianism’, and the reverence in which the craft itself was held, a little boring. One fellow in my class who agreed with me about this was a young Yorkshire lad called Billy Stylish.

I got on quite well with Billy, who was very much in the Albert Finney mould of raw, young, northern talent. Unlike me, he hadn’t been to public school, and his father was an electrician or something like that. He wore a flat cap, liked football (‘Up The Wanderers!’) and raised whippets. He stayed in a room of his uncle’s house in Streatham, where he kept a loft full of pigeons,17 and wrote home regularly to Ilkley to his shop-assistant girlfriend, Mary, who was related to Gracie Fields. I admit I found his accent rather hard to understand at times, and when I met him first I thought he was from Scandinavia or somewhere like that. (When I told him this later, he said, ‘I know I’m from “Oop North”, but not that far “Oop North!!”’ (I didn’t understand this either but smiled at him and nodded good-humouredly.) He was a ‘working-class’ boy who spoke his mind and, like me, didn’t believe in bullshit. I found this attitude very refreshing, and, though it was an unlikely relationship, we became chums.

One incident concerning Billy stayed with me for many years and had a lasting effect. About three weeks into our tuition, it was time to tackle Shakespeare.18 Sir Norman Brocktight, a famous Shakespearean actor and scholar of the day (although largely forgotten now), was due to come in to Gower Street to give an introductory talk on the bard. All the first-year students were expected to attend. Anyone intending to ‘skive off’ or professing the attitude ‘I don’t give a damn about Shakespeare – I’m off down the pub to have a few pints and maybe pick up a bird’ was told in no uncertain terms that such behaviour could lead to immediate expulsion.

I must admit, at that point, although, like most people, I had a basic knowledge of plays such as Hamlet, Macbeth, King Lear, etc., I had never heard or seen the great man’s work exposed to any serious analysis. When I was younger, I had sometimes even thought to myself secretly, Does this even make sense? Yes, they sound lovely as words, but does all this stuff actually mean anything? I confidently expected Sir Norman to fully dispel any lingering doubts I had with his fascinating insights and words of wisdom.

Just as he removed his cape and was about to start the lecture, Billy piped up with: ‘Eaaah, this Shakespeare laddie – ’e may make sense to toffs such as yourself, Sir Norman, but ah’ve read some of ’is plays in t’library ’ere and ah can’t make ’ead nor tail of it.’

Sir Norman was obviously stunned by this interruption. He had been lecturing on Shakespeare since the late nineteenth century, but it was clear he had never experienced such a bold intervention as this before. The great scholar was literally dumbstruck.

Meanwhile, the room had also gone completely silent. One could have heard a pin drop. What on earth was going to happen next? But before Sir Norman could react or respond, Billy pressed on with: ‘F’rinstance, ah’ve joost been lookin’ at this fuckin’ play ’ere . . .’ He brandished a copy of Twelfth Night (1962 edition, editor: Cecil Dixon) in front of Sir Norman. ‘This bit ’ere . . .’ Billy continued, ‘where the Duke says, “Too old by heaven! Let still the woman take an elder than herself: so wears she to him; so sways she level in her husband’s heart: For, boy, however do we praise ourselves, our fancies are more giddy and uniform, more longing, wavering, sooner lost and won, than women’s are”’ . . . Billy paused for what seemed like an age, then declared, ‘What the flamin’ Nora does that mean?’

As you can imagine, the tension in the room was now quite unbearable. I heard audible gasps from the audience. A young female student beside me fainted. Nobody had ever seen or heard anything like this in RADA before. It was literally an earth-shattering event. Suddenly, two rough-looking men in boiler suits leaped into the audience. They grabbed Billy and dragged him forcibly from the room. His shouts and cries to the effect of ‘Won’t somebody help me??!??’ were immediately drowned out by the sound of a marching band which came over the public address system. I realised that this was a record that somebody must have put on to drown out Billy’s screams. Chaos ensued for several minutes, then one of the senior lecturers in the Academy, Basil Stillbourne, appeared at the podium. (It had become clear by this point that Sir Norman was unable to carry on and was being led away to a waiting ambulance.) Grim-faced and visibly shaken, Stillbourne appealed for calm. He told all the students in the room that none of them should ever speak a word about what they had just seen. We were informed in no uncertain terms that to let slip a word of Billy’s shenanigans would result in expulsion from RADA in the first instance and possibly a jail term.

To make his point with even greater vehemence, Stillbourne then took out a revolver and fired three shots into the ceiling.19 ‘You must never ever breathe a word of what you have witnessed here today’ were his final words of warning before he left through a side door. Every student was then detained for several hours as police were called to search the building. (I thought this was a bit of an overreaction by the authorities. Clearly Billy was ‘acting alone’ and his questioning of the validity of Twelfth Night was not part of a wider conspiracy.) Finally, some twelve hours later, after we were all searched and interrogated by the police, we were allowed to go home.

Later that night, I pondered the day’s events. Suppose – just suppose – Billy was right after all? Maybe Shakespeare didn’t actually make sense? Perhaps he used words that sounded pretty enough, but when strung together in sentences didn’t add up to a whole hill o’beans. With another student, Kimberley Banana, I decide to analyse the passage that Billy had quoted from Twelfth Night. We stayed up all night probing, in forensic detail, the lines written by the great20 Shakespearean bard all those years ago. I still have my notebook from that night, in which I carefully copied out some quotes, followed by our queries and general thoughts:

‘Too old by heaven!’

Does Shakespeare mean too old in comparison with Heaven? Also, if Heaven is eternal, as it is believed to be amongst Christian believers, how can something be ‘too old’, or even ‘older’ than it, at all?

‘Let still the woman take an elder than herself’

Is this a reference to the woman marrying an older man? One is also unclear as to the meaning of ‘take’ here – ‘steal’ possibly? Is the speaker advising the woman to shoplift an older gentleman? And what are we to make of the word ‘still’ in this sentence? Has the author (Shakespeare) made a mistake and actually means ‘the still woman’? A woman who is immobile and unable to move? Then how would she be able to shoplift a potential husband?

‘So wears she to him; so sways she level in her husband’s heart’

‘So wears she to him’? Does she wear the same clothes as her potential husband? And then is she standing (possibly on a chair or stool if her husband is a tall man) so that her head is level with her husband’s chest? And why would she ‘sway’? Possibly the chair or stool is unsteady. All very confusing!!

‘For, boy, however do we praise ourselves, our fancies are more giddy and uniform, more longing, wavering, sooner lost and won, than women’s are’

This is one of the bard’s more cryptic passages – and, let’s face it, they’re all quite cryptic!!! We found this a real puzzler. Surely the word ‘do’ in the line ‘however do we praise ourselves’ is superfluous? Take that out and we are left with ‘however we praise ourselves, our fancies . . .’, etc. This immediately makes much more sense. But how are fancies (presumably he is not referring to biscuits here) giddy and uniform? We made the presumption that ‘fancies’ refers to ‘hobbies’ – such as golf or watching pornography (using modern references as examples; archery or witch-burning would be the sixteenth-century equivalent). A hobby can be giddy (i.e. taking heroin), but how can it be ‘uniform’? Is absolutely everybody else in Shakespearean England doing it? Once more, the bard teases us! Kimberly also wondered if ‘woman’s are’ had originally been ‘woman’s arse’. We agree that in the context of the sentence it was a lot more logical. The stuff about ‘longing, wavering, sooner, lost than one . . .’ we didn’t have a clue about.

Eventually we gave up, ordered a takeaway and made love on the carpet.

As for Billy Stylish, I didn’t hear from him again. He never turned up for another lecture and seemed to vanish off the face of the earth. When I’d mention his mysterious disappearance to my fellow students, they would either hurriedly change the subject or walk away at great pace. Once, when a group of us were in the pub, a senior lecturer came down late in the evening to join us. I had had quite a few drinks at that stage, so my inhibitions were loosened enough for me to ask this man what had happened to Billy. ‘He paid the full price for his transgression’ was the curt reply. When I asked if he could give me any further information, he stood up and promptly marched out the door.

It was only many years later, when I happened to meet a senior detective from Scotland Yard, DI Leonard Chaffinch, that I got any further clues. We were talking about a completely different subject – the possibility of adapting the TV programme Rosemary and Thyme into a stage musical performed by actors dressed as chimps – when Billy’s name came up. I was quite shocked by what Chaffinch told me: apparently Billy’s body had been found in the Thames shortly after the incident, but the police had been ‘leaned on’ not to investigate. I was very shocked by this. Who had put pressure on the police, I asked. ‘Clearly, RADA,’ replied the detective inspector. He then told me that he had a lot of confidential information about how RADA and the police co-operated to ‘neutralise’ anybody in the academy who dared raise the thorny question of whether any of Shakespeare’s plays (or indeed anything at all he wrote) made any sense. I was pretty gobsmacked by what I was hearing. I pressed the wily old copper further: ‘So what you’re saying is that RADA and the police work in tandem to ensure that anybody like Billy who raises the issue of whether Shakespeare makes sense or not is silenced.’

‘That’s right.’

‘So Billy was murdered by RADA?’

‘I wouldn’t go as far to say he was “murdered”, but he was killed by elements within RADA, yes.’

‘And the police would have turned a blind eye to this murder/killing?’

‘It would not have been investigated with the thoroughness that would be brought to a normal investigation where someone is deliberately killed.’

‘All because RADA doesn’t want anybody to suggest that Shakespeare doesn’t make sense?’

‘That’s right. RADA, and the whole theatrical profession in this country, relies on the belief that Shakespeare is the absolute bee’s knees. There’s a whole industry based around it. Anybody who questions this . . .’

Chaffinch then made a chilling ‘cut-throat’ gesture across his neck. I asked him if he believed that Shakespeare made sense.

‘I’m more of a Jeffrey Archer man, myself,’ he chuckled.

The whole story seemed very odd and not a little unbelievable. I wondered if Chaffinch would get into trouble just for speaking to me. Whereas anybody else I talked to about the subject seemed very uncomfortable discussing it, he was cheerfully blasé in his willingness to chat. He’d even confided in me that he had approached the producer of Channel 4’s Dispatches programme with a view to him putting together an episode about his revelations. I checked the Channel 4 schedules for months afterwards, but as far as I could ascertain a programme about RADA and the police collaborating to exterminate anybody who questioned the validity of Shakespeare’s work was never aired.

Some months later, Chaffinch’s body was found in the Thames with its head,21 legs and arms missing. (I thought this was a shame, because he had seemed like a really nice bloke.) This information was given to me by another policeman from Scotland Yard, who subsequently also drowned under mysterious circumstances. The officer who investigated this death then also disappeared.
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As I have already indicated, I felt that I had little or nothing to learn from my tutors, so I quietly decided to skip lectures and fully experience the many delights of London in the late 1960s/early 1970s instead. The city was a very different place then to what it is now. There were no McDonald’s (except for Trevor McDonald), mobile phone shops or Starbucks coffee houses. Before ‘virtual sex’ became readily available on the Internet, ‘live sex shows’ were the order of the day. I remember going to ‘Dolly’s’ near Leicester Square (now a branch of Pret A Manger) and seeing Lord Longford, Malcolm Muggeridge, and Gyles Brandreth sitting in the audience enjoying a performance. (I subsequently learned that they were present as part of Longford’s investigation into the dangers of pornography!)

One of my favourite hangouts was the Bar Of Gold pub in Haymarket (for the last few years a branch of Pret A Manger, it’s now re-opened under its previous management). A frequent haunt of the Kray twins during the 1960s, I once saw Una Stubbs wrestle the painter Francis Bacon to the ground on the pavement outside.

Another favourite place was the Great Beyond. Jane tells a marvellous story about the late Peter Finch meeting the critic Shorley Residue at the opening party for Oh Calcutta! at Nob’s Club in Romilly Street (now a branch of Pret A Manger). ‘Have you seen Warren Organ about?’ asked Finch (now largely forgotten, Organ was a regular in Z Cars and a fine early interpreter of Beckett). ‘Haven’t you heard, Peter? He’s gone to “the Great Beyond”,’ replied Residue. Finch was unaware that the Great Beyond was a recently opened club in Soho (it’s now a branch of Pret A Manger) and presumed Residue meant that Organ had died. He promptly organised a memorial service at the Brompton Oratory, as Organ was a devout Catholic. Six women turned up at the service, each claiming to be Organ’s wife. When it was subsequently established that the actor was still alive, things became rather complicated and he disappeared from the scene for many years before resurfacing as a second-hand car dealer in EastEnders in the 1990s.22 His name has also recently re-emerged up as part of the police investigation known as ‘Operation Yew Tree’. (Called after the Yew Tree pub in Camden Town – now a branch of Pret A Manger.) The Yew Tree was popular with both members of the Flying Squad and actors who played the Daleks in Doctor Who.

It was in the Yew that I first met Oliver Reed. Even then, Reed was a legendary figure. That evening, he was wildly drunk and trying to impress a group of young ladies by nailing his left hand to the bar counter. He seemed to have largely succeeded in this unusual show of bravura, as there was blood everywhere and several onlookers were gasping in horror and disgust. He then presented the hammer he had been using for this crude display of self-crucifixion to one of the ladies and invited her to nail his other hand to the counter whilst simultaneously coaxing this woman back to his flat with promises of more free booze. What a display! The woman, probably because Reed was a well-known movie star, agreed to accompany him, but before a taxi could be called for, he passed out, and the fire brigade and ambulance were summoned instead. The woman accompanied him to the hospital. I heard later on from Shorley Residue that Reed had come round in the ambulance and that they had sex then and there.

Some years later, when I had become quite well known as an actor, Oliver asked me and the Blue Peter team if we’d like to go with him to one of the infamous ‘snooker, drugs, drink and sex’ weekends at Keith Moon’s house in Surrey. I was somewhat disappointed that the Blue Peter contingent turned out not to be the definitive line-up of Valerie Singleton, Peter Purves and John Noakes, but were in fact some of the rather burly props guys who made the model Doctor Who Daleks on the show out of detergent bottles, pipe cleaners and sticky-backed plastic. They were an unusually rough crowd! However, to my surprise, they proved to be the life and soul of the party.23

Reed had arranged for a helicopter to take us to Moon’s house in the countryside, and as we neared the property, we could see the crazed Who drummer below on the lawn, ominously brandishing a machine gun. This alarmed me more than a little, but Oliver assured me that it was ‘just Keith being Keith’. When Moon then opened fire, causing the helicopter to burst into flames and crash, it was confirmed to me that ‘Moon The Loon’ was just as crazy as the media made him out to be. Although one of the Blue Peter props guys broke both his legs in the crash, he insisted on staying on for the next few days and, if anything, proved to be more mischievous and ‘hell-raising’ than any of the rest of us! Moon’s property had once been a farm, and the demented sticks man had converted a large building into a giant container which stored twenty thousand gallons of vodka. Keith imbibed merrily all weekend. I smoked a ginormous amount of weed.

It was an unforgettable weekend (even though I don’t remember a lot of it).
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A baby elephant of the type which did a shit on the Blue Peter children’s TV programme in 1969. I once spent an unforgettable weekend with Oliver Reed and members of the Blue Peter props department team at Keith Moon’s country house in Surrey. (When I asked the BBC for permission to use a photograph of the elephant running amok from the original TV broadcast for this book, they flatly refused. I would have thought that after almost forty years the corporation would no longer be embarrassed by the incident - but seemingly not.)



At this time, something rather momentous also happened to me: I entered Soho’s Colonial Club for the first time for ‘the breaking in’ of Jeffrey Bernard’s false teeth, a memorable occasion. On that particular night, I had been kicked out of the French House on Dean Street and ended up knocking on the door of the Colonial about midnight. The club, which I now regard as my second home, was then situated just off Frith Street. It has moved several times since, to premises in Wardour Street, Old Compton Street, Rupert Street, Percy Street, Dean Street, Livonia Street, and, briefly, to the Isle of Man (for tax reasons). That first night, I was greeted by the irascible and legendary owner, Hissie Oversight. ‘Who are you then, cunty?’ was her charming greeting.

I was a little taken aback, but Jeffrey, who turned up at the door, soon assured me that she spoke to everybody like that – even Princess Margaret and the Archbishop of Canterbury (both regular members).

Born in The Hague, Hissie was the only woman/club owner to have taken part in the Normandy landings, single-handedly storming up Sword beach and ‘taking out’ a German machine-gun post with massive loss of life. (The Nazi gunners had offered to surrender, but she massacred them instead. It was a ruthlessness which she would employ frequently when it came to removing stragglers from the Colonial at closing time.) She’d then been a jockey, a professional chess player, a nun, a DJ on Radio Luxembourg, a prostitute, Director General of the BBC, an antiques expert and an explorer. She had also set the crossword in the Sunday Times for a number of years. She was a true eccentric. When invited on as a guest to pay tribute to Tommy Steele on an edition of This Is Your Life, she dressed as a frogman. She also wore the same stockings for sixty years; she never said the word ‘the’ and always affected an Australian accent despite being of Dutch origin.

I’ve had many exceptional experiences in the Colonial over the years. Some were truly unforgettable: the time Albert Finney signed up a duck for membership; the occasion when the Emperor Haile Selassie was locked in the fridge overnight, and the night Keith Allen exploded a home-made bomb, injuring six members (one fatally!).

Another case of ‘Keith just being Keith’. Happy days indeed . . .

Another club member was the actor Ed Howzer-Black, who many readers will be familiar with from re-runs of 1980s dramas on ITV 3. A philandering Lord in Poirot; an untrustworthy butler in Sherlock Holmes, a posh/dodgy associate of Arthur Daley in Minder, a foppish out-of-his-depth MP who has inherited his seat from his father in Upstairs, Downstairs – that’ll be Ed. At the time I met him, he had recently written a play called Adventures In Lesbianism, which had been performed in the Hen And Chickens Pub/Theatre in Islington. It ran for only a week and disgusted all those who saw it. It featured several middle-aged women doing ‘exactly what it says on the tin’ and was famous for the actors being completely nude throughout its four-hour performance. Ed had also directed and produced the play, constantly coaxing the actors to ‘go further’ and test the very limits to which women-only love could be portrayed on the London stage. As a result of his pioneering enthusiasm, he found himself in breach of several laws on obscenity. (I thought there was only one.) When I first met him at the Colonial, he’d just appeared that very day in front of a beak at the Old Bailey, where he’d received a suspended sentence; he was celebrating his lucky escape with several bottles of champagne. Ed shall crop up many times more in this story.
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Ed Howzer-Black in rehearsal for the BBC production of Tatman’s Choice, in which he played the title role of the scheming Tory minister Timothy Tatman. ‘A philandering Lord in Poirot; an untrustworthy butler in Sherlock Holmes, a posh/dodgy associate of Arthur Daley in Minder, a foppish out-of-his-depth MP who has inherited his seat from his father in Upstairs, Downstairs - that’ll be Ed!’ (See chapter 3)



I can’t say I’ve ever met an actor that I actually ‘admire’, but the mention of Albert Finney above reminds me of a conversation I had about acting with Anthony Hopkins while we were both watching Abba win the Eurovision Song Contest in 1974. ‘Hoppy’ told me that when he started out he had studied Richard Burton closely. He noticed that Burton used certain ‘tricks’ on stage: he would always shift his weight to the left side of his body and raise his right foot two or three centimetres off the floor. He would blink at intervals of exactly twenty-five seconds. He would never look another actor in the eye unless the actor was from one of the Celtic nations. If he felt a scene was going well, he would hold his breath for as long as he could, then exhale, always turning his back to the audience as he did so. Later, Hopkins would get to know Burton personally and other tips and habits were revealed: he would always insist on doing the exact opposite of what the director asked him to do, and when he was playing a scene with another actress, he would try to imagine that he was in bed with Elizabeth Taylor (unless he actually played a scene with Elizabeth Taylor; then he would imagine he was in bed with Alfred Hitchcock).

I asked Hopkins what he had learned from studying Burton so closely, and he replied ‘not much’.

Perhaps Hoppy’s own greatest contribution to acting has been his technique of staring out of a window whilst thinking deeply about very important matters elsewhere. I have seen him do this in many plays and films, and it is always hugely effective. Say, for example, he is playing a character called ‘Mister Jones’. A typical scene would read like this:

INT. STATELY HOME. DAY.

MISTER JONES is staring out of a window, deep in thought. A young lady, MISS BENNETT enters. She sees him staring through the window.

MISS BENNETT

Ah, there you are, Mister Jones . . . Don’t forget that you have to go to Tavistock to collect Miss Crawshaft.

No response from Mr Jones. He still stares out the window.

MISS BENNETT

Mister Jones? Miss Crawshaft . . . you have to collect her from the station.

Pause. Mister Jones still stares out the window.

MISS BENNETT

Mister Jones . . .

Mister Jones finally realises she is talking to him. He stops looking through the window and turns towards her.

MR JONES

Oh, sorry, Miss Bennett . . . you were saying?

MISS BENNETT

I was just reminding you about Miss Crawshaft . . .

MR JONES

Of course, yes . . . The train station.

Pause. Mr Jones stares out of the window again.

MISS BENNETT

Is everything all right? You’ve been a little . . . distracted lately.

MR JONES

No, Miss Jones . . . everything is perfectly fine . . . Perfectly fine . . .

Super work! Many actors have tried to copy this technique over the years, but I think it is fair to say that nobody can do it quite like Hoppy.

Back at RADA, it was time for the end-of-year exams. I didn’t have to do any actual acting to pass these; I just had to answer two questions in written form: ‘What is acting about?’ and ‘Are you good at acting?’ I wrote a few sentences expressing what I thought acting was about, then simply answered ‘yes’ to question number two. Within two weeks I got the result: I had passed and was now a fully qualified actor.

It was time to take on the world!



15 With radio, you don’t even have to memorise them.

16 EDITOR’S NOTE: Actually the Royal Academy of Dramatic Arts.

17 EDITOR’S NOTE: What?

18 Seventeenth-century playwright.

19 Later that evening, a still obviously distraught Stillbourne fired another three shots into his head.

20 Or maybe not so great!!!!???!!!!!!

21 In what I took as a definite threat or warning, his head was sent to my agent Jane in the post.

22 I recently came across him working behind the counter in a branch of Ryman’s stationers.

23 They had asked permission from the BBC higher-ups, been refused, but decided to go anyway.
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All The World’s
A Stage . . .



AFTER LEAVING RADA, I found myself, like most actors, out of a job. (Not that I’d ever had a job in the first place.) I wasn’t, however, lacking in confidence. I felt that I could turn my hand to more or less any role, so had been rather taken aback when, during my final term in Gower Street, I had been told by an ‘expert’24 tutor that I could expect to play ‘mostly supporting roles’. When I asked him to elaborate, he came up with examples such as ‘someone who is asked the time in a railway station’, ‘an officious civil servant’ or ‘a reckless World War I officer who is all gung-ho before the battle but is immediately killed when he’s first out of the trench to attack the Germans’. Well, this didn’t appeal at all. I knew I was a definite ‘leading man’ and was not looking forward to a long apprenticeship of playing over-enthusiastic soldiers or ‘background artists’. I wanted to be ‘Ben Hur’, ‘Lawrence of Arabia’ and ‘Macbeth’ all in one.25

However, after six months when nothing suitable dropped into my lap, I got an opportunity through my connection with Ed Howzer-Black. Ed was in a Ray Cooney farce at the Comedy Theatre and after an outbreak of food poisoning due to some infected biscuits which put a lot of the cast out of action, he put in a word for me. I was offered a small part as a bell boy. I had little to do or say (although I did have to ring a bell a lot!), but I was delighted to be appearing on the West End stage for the first time. It was all very, very exciting. I enjoyed performing, and also the social life in the bar afterwards seemed most attractive! (For some actors this post-performance socialising in a relaxed atmosphere is a lot more fun than appearing onstage! The late Scottish actor Gordon Jackson, famous for TV roles in Upstairs, Downstairs and The Professionals, once remarked, ‘I’m very fond of my profession – except for that unpleasantness between 7.30 and 10 o’clock each evening.’26) Nevertheless, I knew that in order to make progress, I would need an agent to help guide my career. Ed suggested somebody called Jane Plough.
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Jane Plough worked out of an office in Wardour Street. I arranged to meet her to discuss what she could do for me, but before I could turn up for the allotted appointment, she died. However, she had a daughter who was also called Jane Plough (although, unlike her mother, pronounced ‘Pluff’, as in Brian Clough, the sportsman) and who was also an agent. I decided to test her out. Before meeting her, I undertook some research to find out if she would be the ‘right fit’ for me. In those days, one couldn’t ‘Google’27 anything, so I could only get information about Jane Plough by going to the library or randomly stopping people in the street and hoping that they might know her. Stratford Johns (at that time one of the most famous faces in the world due to his regular appearances in Z Cars) suggested that I visit the National Archives in Kew, as he had recently been researching Jane, too,28 and discovered that they had a thick file on her there.29

So off to Kew I went to investigate further. In a large file of newspaper cuttings, I located a reference to Jane in a Daily Mirror report of the famous drug bust of Keith Richards’ Redlands home in 1967. Seemingly, while Marianne Faithfull had grabbed all the headlines as ‘the naked girl with the Mars bar’, my potential career-moulding agent had been giving one of the Rolling Stones roadies a blow-job in a tree house in the garden! Further research at the archive proved that Jane had been very much involved with the London counter-culture of the 1960s. She had been close friends with such luminaries as the art gallery owner Robert Frazer, musicians like Jimi Hendrix and Clive (‘Grandad’) Dunne, and the stick-like model Twiggy, who was so thin she didn’t cast shadows against walls. To see Jane now, in 2015, a somewhat wrinkled (despite numerous facelifts), world-weary, irascible old- age pensioner, it is hard to imagine the fun-loving, spaced-out,30 innocent flower child. Having said that, one can still occasionally see glimpses of her younger self in her fondness for colourful clothes (which now look somewhat ridiculous on an elderly lady in her sixties) and her numerous drug addictions.

High as I was on the prospect of a first proper job on the London stage, and impressed with her connections, I phoned Jane when I returned to my flat from Kew; we met the next day at her office and she immediately agreed to take me on. (Or did I agree to take her on??????!?!!!!31) We have been together ever since and have had numerous adventures along the highway. She is unusual and unique in many ways. For instance, there can’t be many agents in London who have managed to kill two of their clients. One of these deaths was ruled as ‘justifiable homicide’ while in the other case Jane got a suspended sentence for manslaughter. She is also notorious for becoming involved in amorous relationships with some of her other clients, both male and female. When these unwise liaisons eventually fail, as they are inevitably doomed to do, she then, as regular as clockwork, suffers a nervous breakdown due to resultant feelings of despair, inadequacy and self-loathing. A period of between three and six months then follows in a private clinic.32 (Her clients have become all too used to fending for themselves for lengthy periods as Jane is ‘out of action’.) Despite these inevitable setbacks, she perseveres in ‘searching for love’. I remember a period in the mid 1990s when she went through a phase of dating musicians involved in the ‘Britpop’ scene.33 She was regularly spotted in the then-trendy Camden Town with various guitarists and bass players from the likes of Carter The Unstoppable Sex Machine and Shed Seven. Of course she was about twenty years older than these boys and needed to take loads of speed to keep up with their hectic lifestyle. It was all rather pathetic, and she became a huge joke on the rock scene. (A band called Sleeper even wrote a song about her called ‘Sad Old Bag’.)

She still vents her frustration at living the single life, having only Tilda Swinton to go on occasional holidays with. I have often said to her that the chances of her finding anybody at all in these her twilight years are low to non-existent. What elderly gent (or lady for that matter) would wish to burden himself (or herself for that matter) with a barmy old has-been who was past her sell-by date in about 1979? And yet she vainly clings on to the idea that somebody (presumably as hopeless and desperate as she is) will arrive on the scene like a knight in white satin and sweep her off her feet. Talk about wishful thinking! The truth is she is fucking crackers and nobody is going to put up with her for any period of time longer than five minutes.
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Jane Plough: my agent for more years than I care to remember! My publicity photo is strategically placed over the lamp behind Jane’s left shoulder.



The question I have been asked most over the years is: ‘Why, oh why, are you still with Jane?!?!?’ (I met the footballers Charlie Adam and Luis Suárez once at a fundraising event, and even they asked me.) What is it that prevents me from leaving her charge? In actual fact, paranoia, insecurity, ruthlessness, an uncontrollable temper, anger, vindictiveness, a persecution complex the size of Siberia and sheer rage would be regarded as drawbacks in many professions, but in running an actors’ agency these character traits can often be rather useful. Also, I think the poor dear would be devastated if I left. For someone who has so little going for her – who has been thwarted in love, has lost her looks, has no talent to speak of, is genuinely disliked and distrusted in her profession, and is just so generally odd and unusual – to lose her most successful client would be a huge blow. I genuinely think that she would have little option but to kill herself. And I would not like to be the man responsible for that!
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One of the first things Jane did on my behalf was to book me in for a series of auditions.34 Auditions, even for the experienced actor, can be very, very difficult.35 There is not a ‘right’ way and a ‘wrong’ way of doing an audition. Some actors give very small, or even barely detectable, performances during the initial meeting with a casting director; often whispering the words in a mostly inaudible mumble and making no discernible physical movements. This is known as the ‘rigor mortis audition’ and is favoured by many, mostly experienced, performers. The thinking behind this method is that it ‘gives very little away’, and the margin for error is small.

The downside, of course, is that nobody will hear you, and that your potential employers will think that they’ve come face to face with a lunatic. The opposite of this approach is what is known as the ‘Brian Blessed audition’.36 This involves steaming in full blast, shouting the words as loudly as you can and jumping around a lot. Some actors whilst reading the script also yell their names out at regular intervals during the audition – for example (from Shakespeare’s Twelfth Night): ‘A murderous guilt shows not itself more soon TIM PIGOTT-SMITH!37 Than love that would seem hid TIM PIGOTT-SMITH! – love’s night is noon.’ The reasoning here is that it is paramount for the director to remember the name of the auditioning actor, so every trick must be utilised to render it unforgettable. I personally have never been fond of this procedure. I regard it as somewhat ‘high risk’ as, even more so than in the ‘rigor mortis audition’, the director might just think that you are fucking bonkers.

Some actors, if they are not confident, or feel that the casting director and producer won’t believe they’re quite right for the role, may try to distract the decision makers away from their performance by every manner of means. They may wear a silly hat, a false nose, or an ‘I’m voting BNP’ badge. Perhaps they will start to sing during their reading, or say something like: ‘Where did you get your shoes? They’re rather nice.’ When I first asked Jane about this method (she recommended it for me at our very first meeting), I had some reservations. Surely, as an actor, one should be trying to make the director focus on one’s performance, not distract him or her away from it? ‘No,’ said Jane. ‘That would only work for good actors. Most actors aren’t really competent enough – in fact they are downright hopeless – so it’s best to acknowledge this and try and nab the job by methods which don’t involve the performance.’ I remember thinking that this was a most peculiar philosophy. Coming from anybody it would have appeared strange, but hearing it from the lips of an actors’ agent made it seem even harshly cynical. Incidentally, early on in our professional relationship, Jane admitted to me, ‘I fucking hate actors.’ Was this the correct attitude for someone in charge of an actors’ agency?!? It didn’t exactly fill me with confidence. I admit that at the time I had some serious doubts about having signed up with Jane – doubts which have not diminished38 over the last forty years.

While Jane’s advice to me about how to impress at auditions was dubious, I have also personally witnessed, or heard about second hand, techniques that are plainly disastrous. Merridew Ferrybank, who used to be a regular in the Colonial Club when I first started going there, was famous for never turning up sober for an audition. Arriving at a casting agency in Soho to meet the team behind one of the Confessions series of films of the 1970s (Merridew was rather good at playing lecherous old-timers), he promptly did a shit on the floor and threw the assistant casting director out of the window.39

Alan Chance was an Australian actor who arrived in London in the UK as part of that ‘wave’ of antipodeans who literally washed up on these shores in the 1960s and soon became household names. But while such figures as Germaine Greer, Clive James, Barry Humphries and Rolf ‘Tie Me Kangaroo Down, Sport’ Harris became famous and much loved by the public, Alan struggled to make a successful career in show business. The general feeling about him was that he wasn’t any good at acting. (The critic Shorley Residue once said to me: ‘That Alan Chance – he’s shit at acting.’) Alan knew this himself – and was refreshingly open about it – so his chief tactic at auditions was to use bribery. He would carry wads of cash around with him, to distribute to casting agents and directors after he’d once more failed to impress them with another dreadful reading. The encounter usually went something like this:

‘Alan, could you read from the top of page six to the bottom of page seven. Sue40 will be reading with you.’

Alan would then proceed to give an appalling performance (not helped by the fact that he suffered from severe dyslexia and Tourette’s Syndrome). This was then followed by the casting director giving her response:

‘Alan, that was terrific. Really, really good.’

It may seem, to someone not familiar with the ritual, that this was a positive reaction, and Alan would have been pleased that he’d done a good job. However, this response is given to everybody, no matter how crap they’ve been. In normal circumstances, the director then makes some polite conversation – the words ‘thanks for coming in’ and ‘we’ll be in touch’ are heard – and the actor leaves the room. He will then spend the next weeks and months fretting over whether he has got the role and awaiting a phone call from his agent.

Alan had little time for such nonsense. Instead, right after the director’s praise for his good reading, he would pull out a roll of banknotes from his trouser pocket, wink at the casting director and say, ‘Sixty quid?’ The request was usually met with a wry smile – Alan’s tactic was well known throughout the industry. However, although he had been auditioning for many, many years, the cheeky ploy rarely worked.41 How is it even logical for a anybody to accept a modest ‘bung’ of this sort? Casting a shit actor in a film which could have a budget of several million pounds or dollars might well ruin the entire project. Taking a long-term view, this could only be a senseless strategy.

Alan finally gave up on acting and accepted a job working in a care home, where he himself eventually became a long-term resident.

[image: images]

Through a combination of luck, being in the right place at the right time and sheer bloody hard work, over the next few years I began to establish myself in theatre, films and TV, as well as doing occasional voice-over work. Many of the TV shows I appeared in, such as sitcoms like Bendy McKenzie (with Arthur Mullard), Satan’s Biscuits (with Honor Blackman) and The Ferrets (with Yootha Joyce and Dirk Bogarde), have been largely forgotten, but I still occasionally see myself popping up in dramas currently rerunning on ITV 3. (I don’t appear as often as Ed Howzer-Black, who seems to be in almost every programme on that station. I often tell him it should be called ‘The Ed Howzer-Black channel!’)

In the early eighties, Ed and I appeared in several episodes of Minder together. It was always a pleasure to work with Dennis Waterman and George Cole – two thorough professionals. A typical role for Ed was playing a lily-livered posh lord down on his luck who had become involved with some dodgy East End character and needed Arthur (the George Cole character) to extricate him from the situation. I usually portrayed a ‘man about town’ playboy-type who was making Terry (Dennis Waterman’s character) increasingly angry by trying to get off with his birds! It was great fun to do the programme, and I felt it was never really the same after Dennis left to pursue his career outside conventional acting.

Another role which I became well known for – people often still mention it to me now, many years later – was as the arms dealer Trevor Burquette in an episode of The Professionals called ‘The Liquidators’. I have already mentioned the Scottish actor Gordon Jackson’s role on this show; it also starred Martin Shaw and Lewis Collins. While I got on quite well with Shaw – we played many games of ludo and snakes and ladders during breaks in filming – I never quite hit it off with Collins. He seemed to take a dislike to me (possibly because at the time I had a girlfriend he really fancied), and I think this antagonism never really left him. It was why, when somebody began posting boxes of faeces to me in 2008, I suspected him and reported this to the police.42

On stage, I took part in many successful productions such as Sherlock’s Dog (with Lolly Badcock), A Night with the Elephant Man, The Gypsies Kiss, Man of Sex (with the hugely attractive, sexy and charming Jill Quear!43), Jesus in Love (with Vigors Typhoon) and De Oglee Fecker (a memorable production in Dublin with the Pavilion Company). After the premier of Jesus in Love, I remember going, quite literally, with Vigors Typhoon, to Danny La Rue’s Club in Hanover Square, where I played nude pinball with Princess Margaret and the Iranian ambassador as La Rue looked on, drinking champagne from a shoe. Happy days, indeed.

The Gypsies Kiss, which starred Jemima Jina and Cool Bolak, was also my first experience of working with a young actor called Ray Purchase. I remember after the first rehearsal we all went down to the pub, but Purchase didn’t get his round in. He was happy enough when Jemima, Cool or I plonked down a pint in front of him but seemed a little reluctant to return the favour. I recall thinking, This chap is a complete bastard. The more I found out about him, the less I liked Purchase. Although he has strenuously denied it, and in fact has threatened to sue me on numerous occasions for making the allegations, it seems pretty clear that his father was a paedophile and his mother was a prostitute. Yes, I admit there is little or no evidence to back up this fact, but you don’t have to be in Purchase’s company for more than two minutes to be fairly certain that this is the case. There must have been something deeply disturbing in his childhood to form such an odious, obnoxious and twisted human being.

As well as his obvious personality defects, there wasn’t any evidence that he had any acting ability at all. For instance, his timing on stage was truly terrible. He would often also forget his lines, leaving Cool, Jemima and me ‘in the shit’ on more than one occasion. He was, and is, in no particular order: a chump, a ne’er do well, a skiver, a moron, an arrogant misogynist, a monkey lover and a pimp. His wife, however, whom I also met around this time, I found delightful. Suffering from acute depression due to her dismal marriage, she had permanently taken to her bed only a couple of months after her wedding and was quite open about the fact that her relationship to her useless husband had totally ruined her life. Despair and disappointment was her unhappy lot, and she faced every new day with a grim sense of despondency and hopelessness. Sex was what she used to dull the pain, and as I was also by this time expressing myself joyously and without shame through the physical side of my personality, it was inevitable that a close bond would form between us.

We soon became intimate in the bedroom. ‘Doggy-style’ (where the male approaches the female suddenly from behind) was one well-established and traditional method of lovemaking which enthralled and fascinated both of us. It was I who first introduced Mrs Purchase to this marvellous technique and she soon began to value it and delight in it as much as I did. It has been a ‘mainstay’ in our friendship for many years now and is as comforting and reassuring as putting on a familiar pair of old slippers. It also has the advantage of being able to be performed when almost fully clothed, thus allowing a ‘quick getaway’ for the male participant (me!) should a sudden interruption occur.

However, as well as traditional tried-and-trusted methods, experimentation and innovation has also been important in keeping things fresh in our relationship. ‘Quickpark’ is a technique which I came up with involving a super-fast penetration followed by immediate withdrawal. (Ejaculation does not take place, but an optional ‘solo completion’, if desired, can be performed in the bathroom immediately afterwards.) Mrs P. has described this method as like ‘swatting a fly’, and, while pleasure is minimal, it certainly does the trick if time is of the essence. The risk of pregnancy is also low, and it is gratifyingly ‘eco-friendly’.44

Mrs P. (a strong feminist, incidentally) has come up with some very exciting techniques herself with colourful names such as ‘the Olympic Village’, ‘the Widow’s Pension’ and ‘Chicken Shop’. All these have certainly cemented our friendship, and in Mrs P.’s case dulled the experience of being married to a complete moron. She also insisted that our ‘sexual friendship’ be discreet, as she has always worried that if Purchase found out it would put an extra strain on her marriage. Her thinking on this subject I always found somewhat muddled, but as far as I know her husband has remained blissfully ignorant of his wife’s extra-marital activities throughout the years.
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People often ask me if I have ever had an ambition to work in the United States, either on stage on Broadway, or in the glamorous world of film and TV in Hollywood. I have done both – in Sjem Hammerjsad’s wonderful production of Peer Gynt, which transferred from London to New York in 1982, and in a CBS mini-series Witches’ Cove (with Lorna Wynde) in 1987. Gynt was an altogether unforgettable experience, while Cove only lasted one season. However, a brief romance blossomed with my co-star, Lorna, and, while it didn’t work out as a long-term relationship, we have remained friends ever since.45

I very much liked working in America but always missed Blighty when I was away. I pined for YR sauce, a decent cup of tea and Radio 4, so it was unlikely that I was ever going to permanently ‘up ship’ and relocate to Beverly Hills. One interesting offer did emerge, however, involving the American star Telly Savalas. Savalas was very famous in the 1970s for his role in Kojak playing a gum-chewing, cigar-smoking, balding, hard-bitten New York-Greek detective. In the early 1990s46, Thames Television came up with the idea of Savalas reviving the Kojak role and being assigned to Sun Hill police station, the fictional home of the popular police and detective drama The Bill. Meanwhile, all the coppers from Sun Hill would relocate to the Bronx in New York. The proposal eventually came to nothing, as happens to almost every idea for television, but at one point Savalas was flown over to London for talks with Michael Grade and (for reasons I’ve never been entirely clear about) the former England rugby international and A Question of Sport team captain Bill Beaumont.

The day before he arrived, the five-star hotel the star was due to stay in burnt down, so Grade asked if I could put ‘Kojak’ up in my flat, which I shared at the time with Ed Howzer-Black. I was reluctant at first, as there was literally a mountain of dishes in the sink and we had a major rat and mouse infestation. However, Grade, always as convincing as he was charming, said that if I would do this favour for him, I could have a major role in the TV show. I immediately agreed and duly met Savalas at Heathrow before driving him to the flat.

I have to say Kojak was a delightful guest. It was Easter time, and he had bought huge Easter eggs – they must have been about six feet high – for both myself and Ed. He then asked us if we could show him a good time in London. I remember Ed winking slyly to me as he said this. The hairless Greek-American entertainer could mean only one thing – prostitutes. However, when we pitched up at a whorehouse Ed knew in Clapham, it soon became clear that there was a misunderstanding and that all Kojak wanted was to go for a pint in the East End. We then headed to Brick Lane, and by a huge stroke of luck we found a pub where the ‘Rockney’ duo Chas ’n’ Dave47 were performing at an after-hours knees-up. A great time was had by all, and I have a very clear memory of a rather inebriated Kojak dancing on the piano and singing along to C&D’s popular hit of the time ‘Snooker Loopy’. If only smartphone cameras had been invented at the time, I could have taken a memorable picture!

Savalas left the flat the next morning and set off for the meeting. As I have already said, nothing ever came of the idea and I never heard from the Greco/American actor/detective again. When I was holidaying in New York a year or two later, I tried to contact his agent to see if he would be willing to return the favour by allowing me to stay at his lavish apartment overlooking Central Park. I was disappointed when I never received a reply.
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	1
	Wear a distinctive hat or pic of headgear which you think may be relevant to the role you are auditioning for. A green felt hat for Robin Hood may charm the director and make him or her think that you have an attractive, mischievous side.



	2
	Obviously it is not advisable to bribe a casting agent or director (as in the case of Alan Chance mentioned above), but the prospect of a drink after an intense read may relax the mood. Suggest going to the pub (but always make sure they pay!). 



	3
	Chances are that the casting agent has turned you down for countless roles in the past. Don’t bring this up or acknowledge it as a problem. There will be embarrassment on both sides, but this is perfectly natural. Disguise the obvious grudge you are bearing. 



	4
	Don’t try and ‘make friends’ with the casting director. Keep things on a professional level. Never follow them home or become a sinister ‘stalker’-type hanging around their house.



	5
	After being turned down for the role (the average chance of this happening is about 98 per cent), don’t cry or throw a tantrum. Experience should teach you that rejection is perfectly natural. 






24 Author’s italics and quotation marks.

25 I finally achieved this when I appeared in Lionel Plybus’s play Ben Hur, Lawrence of Arabia, and Macbeth at the Donmar in 1999.

26 I am guessing that he is referring here to acting in the theatre?

27 Incidentally, this word was first used by the underground gay community as part of their secret ‘palare’ language. I first heard Kenneth Williams use it to describe the act of prodding a clergyman or priest with a poker.

28 Also with a view to seeking representation. On seeing the file, he went elsewhere.

29 MI5 also has a separate file on Jane which is still classified.

30 Jane is still ‘spaced out’, but nowadays in the sense of being inept or unreliable due to poor levels of concentration.

31 I subsequently discovered that she was just as eager to take me on. At the time, her only three clients had just left, leaving me as the sole actor on her books.

32 She is such a regular inmate in this institution that I once suggested that a blue plaque erected on the wall behind her bed would be a fitting memorial.

33 The music was uniformly dreadful.

34 One of the first things she also suggested to me was that I should join the Freemasons. I didn’t bother to do this until a few years ago when I was due to start work on a production consisting entirely of Masons. Luckily, Ed knew somebody ‘in the know’, and I was soon initiated in a ceremony presided over by the Earl of Slenge (Andrew Trent-Dunberry Fotheringham), treasurer and entertainments officer of the BBC paedophile ring 1972–8.

35 I made a very good joke about Jane once, using this word. I said that although she was a bit of a legend in the London theatrical world, she didn’t quite deserve ‘cult’ status. However, she definitely did deserve ‘diffi-cult’ status!

36 It will come as no surprise to learn that this method is named after the flamboyant actor Brian Blessed!

37 I admit this is a poor example, as Tim is one of Britain’s best-loved actors. He also has a very memorable (and sexy!) double-barrel name.

38 In fact they’ve greatly increased.

39 Needless to say, he didn’t get the role!!

40 It is usual that an assistant to the casting director will read another character’s lines in the scene.

41 It was rumoured that the only time Alan profited from his bribery was when he was cast in art-house director Derek Jarman’s 1978 movie Jubilee. He offered the director a tenner and Jarman said yes.

42 The real culprit turned out to be Ray Purchase (see overleaf).

43 Despite many rumours, I never became romantically linked to Jill. We were, and have remained, however, great friends. I am godfather to Jill’s daughter, Cherryweasle.

44 Greenpeace Index on CO2 emissions during lovemaking.

45 We rekindled the relationship when Lorna appeared in a production of The Graduate in London a few years ago. It was probably an unwise move on my part; I ended up cutting off the nose of her then husband, the rock star Judd Hume of the band Kings of the Ice Age!

46 1990, 1991, 1992 and 1993.

47 Chas ’n’ Dave proved to be delightful individuals. One of them – Chas, or possibly Dave – consistently called Telly ‘Terry’ during our long chat in the bar afterwards!
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There’s Going To Be A
Right Old Ding-Dong!



ONE OF THE most contentious and competitive areas of film acting concerns the issue of who gets ‘top billing’ in a movie. This is incredibly important, as it signifies an actor’s status and position in the industry. When an actor/actress starts out, he/she obviously should not expect to receive top billing, but when two (or more) experienced and established veterans are in the contention for ‘who goes first’ on the credits, then one can expect sparks to fly. I remember a few years ago I heard that a screen version was going to be made of Graham Swift’s novel Last Orders and that the cast would include Tom Courtenay, Michael Caine, Helen Mirren, Bob Hoskins, David Hemmings and Sylvester Stallone.48 Whoah! I thought to myself, there’s going to be a right old ding-dong between that lot!

My own experiences of dealing with who gets top billing are numerous, but I shall proffer the following example of a movie I made in 1990 with an actor who, along with his agent, caused nothing but trouble throughout the production. (As legal proceedings are still taking place, I shall call this actor ‘Gerald Selfish’.)

Selfish had appeared many times on the stage since the 1960s and was a familiar, although instantly forgettable, face on television, where he had starred in shows such as Z Cars, The Saint and Emergency-Ward 10. In latter years, he would turn up regularly on The Bill and Casualty playing sex pests, petty thieves, old-timers who had fallen on hard times, struck-off doctors and drunks. He would also get regular ‘gigs’ on Crimewatch when the producers needed non-recognisable actors to recreate muggings and burglaries. Basically, anyone worth his salt could play these roles with his eyes shut, but Selfish’s agent, Peter Nose at Nose & Rose Associates, seemed to regard his client as a giant of the British stage in the same category as Laurence Olivier or David Garrick.

Jane told me about the proposed movie project not long after I’d appeared in a British comedy about an ‘unlikely but heart-warming’ alliance between striking miners and lesbians against Margaret Thatcher’s government in the 1980s. This had been filmed in Albania (for tax reasons), and as I had been staying in a hotel for six months and sorely missed the comforts of home, my immediate reaction was to say no. However, the proposed movie had a script by Hanif Kureishi and would be filmed in Brighton (where I had a girlfriend at the time). Also, I knew the cinematographer, the catering would be done by a firm which I regarded as one of the best in the business, and, unlike most films where one can regularly start as early as four o’clock in the morning, I would not be required on set until midday. As I had no other work commitments until a spell in the Nash49 later that year, I decided to commit to the project. The presumption was, not unnaturally, as I was a much better-known (as well as a much better) actor than Selfish, that I would get top billing. I don’t even remember discussing this with Jane at the time. It was very much a ‘given’.

The filming itself passed without incident (except for a giant tidal wave which swept Hanif Kureishi out to sea one day when he was visiting the set), and I felt I’d given a solid, if unspectacular, performance. Selfish, on the other hand, had been no better than adequate, was usually late on set and was often the worse for wear having been up drinking the night before.

Some months later the film was due to premiere at the Barnsley Film Festival, and I was invited to attend. There was no way on earth I was going to Barnsley, but Jane asked the producer to send a video of the film so I could view it at home on my VCR. When I popped it into the machine and pressed play, my eyes literally jumped out of their sockets. The very first thing which came up was the name ‘GERALD SELFISH’ in huge letters. Then came the word ‘in’, and next the title of the film (which I can’t recall). Selfish’s name was ABOVE the fucking title! Then, unbelievably, the rest of the cast were listed IN ALPHABETICAL ORDER! As ‘Toast’ begins with ‘T’, this meant that I was listed very near the end (only Laura Urp, Jimmy Xejthius and Ted Zanzibar appearing after me).

As you can imagine, I was utterly astounded by this and quickly made a phone call to Jane. She immediately rang Peter Nose, who made the astonishing claim that he’d presumed that Selfish would receive top billing! Not only had he presumed this, but I discovered later that he’d pursued this strategy in a series of phone calls and lunch meetings with the film’s producers, as well as inviting them to spend a fortnight with him, Selfish and Richard Branson at Branson’s luxury holiday home on Necker Island. These were the lengths he was prepared to go to to ensure that his client, an actor of no talent whatsoever, would receive top billing over me, a confirmed A-lister.

Ed Howzer-Black also told me later that Nose had ‘form’ with this type of thing. Another client of his, Baz Ravish, had appeared with Jenny Agutter and Richard O’Sullivan in a low-budget vampire film in 1973, and Nose had again pulled out all the stops to make sure his client ended up with star billing. Before the first screening of the movie at the BFI, he had broken in to the projection booth and interfered with the print, cutting out Ravish’s name with scissors and crudely cutting and pasting it in the preceding frames where Agutter’s and O’Sullivan’s names were originally placed. (He also cut these names out and Sellotaped them back in so that when the film was projected Agutter and O’Sullivan would appear after the title.)

Nose also handled the careers of two minor, majorly untalented, actresses best known for their stage work: Henty Strepsils and Commondorah Greene. It was common knowledge that he would deface posters outside theatres where these two were performing, to make it appear that they were the main players. Again, he would crudely cut out the names of Strepsils and Greene and paste them over the names of more established stars such as Harriet Walter or Wendy Craig. Sometimes he would remove the name of the main star entirely. I once visited his agency near Leicester Square and found a large section of a poster with the name ‘Jeremy Irons’ stuffed down the back of a sofa.

In a way, one has to applaud his extraordinary chutzpah, but at the same time it was completely immoral behaviour and could have ruined the careers of his clients.
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Henty Strepsils and Ted Zanzibar in Macbeth. ‘Once more, the bard teases us!’ (See Chapter 3).



I have also come across an agent, Virginita Staples at Staples & Quirk, who, unable to get her star top billing, insisted that the typeface spelling out his name would be no more than a millimetre smaller (in height and width) than the ‘top-billed’ actor’s name on the film titles. When the movie opened at the IMAX cinema in Waterloo, Staples was there with a ladder and a measuring tape. (This screen, the largest in Europe, was the size of ten double-decker buses, so the lettering was blown up to approximately thirty feet in height.) When Staples judged that her client’s name was one and a half millimetres smaller than the leading actor, she of course complained.
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I mentioned above that I have sometimes suffered when the acting credits appear in alphabetical order. This usually happens when no agreement can be reached over who tops the bill. Some actors, in order to enhance their chances of appearing as early as possible in the titles, change their original name with that strategy in mind.50 In many cases, this is disingenuous to say the least. Aaaaaalan Aaaaaadams51 is probably not an actor you have heard of, as one rarely sees him on TV, films or on the stage, but he has become a classic example of someone who changed his name so he would appear near the top of any film or play he appeared in if the titles were listed alphabetically. It was an act of complete desperation and hasn’t really worked for him, as he is not a major talent (and is regarded as a bit of an idiot), but he is quite well known within the industry for his name alone.

One related story happened to me a few years ago which I feel is quite amusing in hindsight: Jane called me into her office and suggested to me that I should re-christen myself ‘Engelbert Humperdinck’. After an initial gasp of disbelief, I protested – in a mostly humorous way, as I couldn’t believe that she was being quite serious – that there was already an Engelbert Humperdinck out there. The well-known veteran crooner had recently represented the UK at the Eurovision Song Contest with a song generally regarded as a ‘dud’, which hadn’t matched the sparkle and pizazz of his hits from the 1960s.

Jane began babbling away at a million miles an hour – she had taken quite a few speed tablets the night before at the Evening Standard Theatre Awards – and explained to me that in fact there were actually two Engelbert Humperdincks: the pop singer and one before that who was a German composer best known for his opera Hansel und Gretl. (I had thought, not unreasonably, that there was just one Engelbert Humperdinck, as it is quite an unusual name.) Jane explained to me that, struggling to make the breakthrough in the competitive music scene, the pop singer (who at the time was called Arnold George Dorsey) had decided to change his moniker to Engelbert Humperdinck for marketing purposes and based his new name on the composer. I say ‘based’, but I think it’s fair to say that he took it, lock, stock and two smoking barrels. I’m sure if the composer hadn’t been dead for half a century, he would have had something to say about it.

Anyway, Jane and I had quite a heated debate about this, and I soon began to realise that she was completely serious with her suggestion. Her basic argument was that since it had already worked once as a successful marketing strategy, then it was bound to work again. I had to explain that if one extra Engelbert Humperdinck is company, then three is most certainly a crowd. But Jane seemed to think that the public appetite for Engelbert Humperdincks was limitless and that I was putting my career at risk by not changing my name to Engelbert Humperdinck. It was one of those occasions when I thought to myself Jane is quite mad and once again regretted bitterly ever signing up with the flamboyant, though utterly incompetent, batty old spinster.

I eventually had enough of her nonsense and stormed out of the office. I thought that was the last I would hear of the matter, but Jane did persuade another of her clients to change her name to Engelbert Humperdinck. (Jane thought a woman called Engelbert Humperdinck would have even more novelty appeal.) Needless to say, with a berserk strategy like that, this poor actress’s career nosedived, and, after a fleeting appearance as a novelty item on the Midweek programme on Radio 4 – where she seemed embarrassed and ashamed throughout – she was never heard of again.

Another cheap marketing trick used by actors is to change their name to one similar to a well-known actor, hope they will be confused with that actor and then land whatever role they are aiming for. It’s a cheap trick, in my book, and usually doesn’t work. For instance, I know somebody called Lawrence Olivier who still attends auditions in the very faint hope that some particularly dim producer or director will think he is Laurence Olivier and give him a plum role. Really, nobody is going to be fooled by this, and most people in the industry know that Laurence Olivier died in 1989. Likewise, I am aware that amongst Jane’s list of clients are an Imelda Stanton, a Maureen Lipmin and a Harvey Motel.

I find it rather embarrassing and rather sad that people in my industry will go to such lengths to get noticed, but perhaps the greatest indication of what actors will do to market themselves in a truly outrageous manner is the case of Peter Thatcherweight. I knew Peter quite well, as we had arrived in London at the same time, and, although he wasn’t at RADA (he had attended drama school in Manchester), his was to be a common face around the Colonial and the Bar of Gold. I was in a few theatrical productions with him in the 1970s, and the occasional television show. We both auditioned for an ITV costume drama about six years ago. It’s fair to say that ITV don’t have the same expertise at doing costume drama that the BBC has, and I found the script disappointing; in fact, it was actually extremely poor. Despite being set in the eighteenth century, there were anachronistic lines like ‘Would you care for a sparkling water?’ and a reference to a leisure centre. After also finding out that I was second choice after Timothy West, I turned down the role. However, Jane told me that Peter had secured the part of the village parson and was keen to tell everybody about it. (He must have been rather disappointed, then, to see that when the programme was broadcast his performance had been completely cut out.)

Obviously a little down on his luck, Peter then made a drastic move, which was certainly innovative and daring but didn’t really improve his career prospects in the long term. He decided to seek sponsorship and, after looking around for a few months, he secured backing from a tyre factory. Under the terms of the contract, he was now obliged to call himself ruisliptyres.com. I heard the deal was worth several hundred pounds to Peter, but he hadn’t considered the possibility that producers would be reticent to have somebody called ruisliptyres.com appearing in their play or TV drama. (It would look odd indeed: ‘Inspector Morse, starring John Thaw, Kevin Whately and ruisliptyres.com’.) When, to his obvious disappointment, this ill-judged ruse didn’t work out, Peter planned to revert to his original name, but the real ruisliptyres.com then threatened to sue him for breach of contract, so, as far as I know, Peter is still stuck with his unusual name. In a rather draconian subclause to the contract, which apparently Peter didn’t notice when he was signing it, his family and friends are also required to call him ruisliptyres.com. I find the whole episode quite undignified, and I don’t know any actors who are queuing up to repeat the experiment.
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Rivalry between performers can reach very intense levels when we come to the thorny issue of ‘good and bad’ reviews. Luckily, the vast amount of my notices for TV, film and stage have been almost uniformly positive, so I won’t be devoting much time to reviewers’ opinions here. Theatre critics in general are a bunch of people whose opinions I largely ignore and care little about. I really do ‘never read the reviews’.52 However, it is not inaccurate to say that a cruel word or pointed phrase in a piece can still sting. It is often the bad notices that one recalls over the good ones, but, as I say, most reviews of my work have been overwhelmingly positive, and I have little to complain of.

One review I received which I did have cause to complain of was given to me a few years ago after an appearance in Noises Off at the Gielgud Theatre. The name of the critic was Donald Suckling, and his review in the Evening Standard I found ignorant, unprofessional and disappointing. I can recall his words almost verbatim: ‘Steven Toast chews the furniture as if he was a survivor of an air crash in the Andes who, after months of starvation and exposure to freezing temperatures, had just stumbled across a Kentucky Fried Chicken outlet.’ This review doesn’t even make much sense. Just think about it: if I were a survivor of an Andes air crash who had subsequently stumbled into a Kentucky Fried Chicken outlet (not a very likely event in a South American mountain range), surely I’d chew some chicken rather than the fixtures and fittings of the eatery? What bothers me most about this type of review is not the personal abuse (although that is unfair, vindictive and undeserved as it is), which is always, literally, like water off a duck’s back to me, but the casual and unprofessional way it is written. The whole piece looked as if it had been thrown together in about ten seconds – or less. I don’t know much about Donald Suckling – except that he is forty-five years old and lives with his mother, is known to have a drink problem, had an affair that broke up his previous, short-lived marriage, and that Baz Ravish once described him to me as an ‘obnoxious f***wit’ – but surely when one is working for a reputable newspaper like the Standard one should at least have some basic knowledge of the subject one is writing about?

I have only once in my life written back in response to a critic’s ‘appraisal’ of my work, and I think it is worth quoting the original review here in length to illustrate why my reply was justified. It is from 1985 and the play I was appearing in was a new work by the author Stuart Gringle, called Arm’s Length. The reviewer was Susan Bench.

‘Arm’s Length’ by Stuart Pringle is quite simply the worst play I have ever seen in my life. At least fifteen times whilst I was watching this utterly shit production, I thought “this is a play that should be kept at arm’s length from every theatre goer in the world”. How does one even begin to describe its awfulness? The story such as it is (about an investment banker, Cliff Stolways, returning to his childhood Cotswolds home to confront his father, Gerald, about an alleged incident of abuse during his childhood) is clichéd and repetitive, Billy Spraymount’s sets are simply abysmal, and the direction by Trevor McGlinglish is easily the most insipid and lifeless I have ever come across. The performances are nothing short of laughably inept. Jill Quear as the mother, Dorothy, is relentlessly shrill and irritating, but the honours for absolutely SHIT acting go to Steven Toast. His breathtakingly bad performance as Ernest Gangley, a philandering, wife-beating friend of Gerald’s, reaches new depths of incompetent performance which I have never experienced before in fifty years of being a theatre critic. I hope and pray that I never have to witness such a travesty again. How to describe this display. . . (and I so wish I didn’t have to)? It is by turns overbearing, incompetent, unconvincing, nervy, inconsistent, lame, annoying, embarrassing, overwhelming, under-played,53 tonally-all-over-the-place, sexist, racist, cack-handed, crap, foul-mouthed, ill-judged, cloyingly camp, witless, boring, lifeless, dreary and just plain wrong! One wonders how Toast can even have the nerve to present himself for a pay cheque at the end of the week after putting in a dire performance such as this. One can only presume that he is a shitbag. A shitbag, a bastard and a cunt!!! A fucking evil scumbag bastard CUNT!!!

So there we have it. It is fair to say that Ms Bench didn’t mince her words. But has she stepped over the line? When does honest, objective and fair criticism descend into vulgar abuse? The clue here I think is in the line: ‘(He is) a fucking evil scumbag bastard cunt!’ Where is the nuanced appraisal here? The subtle, detailed, forensic analysis of an actor’s portrayal of his character? Using such foul language to describe not just the actor’s performance but the actor himself surely oversteps the mark.

I thought all this was grossly unfair and resolved to take action to defend my good name by ‘striking back at the critics’. After discussing the matter with Jane, we decided to send some shit through the post to Ms Bench with a covering letter which said simply: ‘Go fuck yourself.’
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Jill Quear is one of the finest actresses I’ve worked with. Though often romantically linked, we’ve always just been close friends. I am godfather to Jill’s daughter, Cherryweasle. (Editor’s note: This is a stock photo of an actress, not the actual Jill Quear. As this book was about to go to print, Ms Quear’s lawyers requested that Ms Quear’s photo be withdrawn from publication after an article in the Evening Standard newspaper linking the author to the parentage of Ms Quear’s daughter.)



As a postscript to this story, when this bizarre review was published (in The Telegraph, I think) it was obvious that, rather than the thespian community rallying around one of its own who had been grievously wounded in such a vindictive way, they resorted to type by showing themselves to be a bunch of wankers. This unfair, unprovoked and vicious hatchet job actually pleased other actors! Ray Purchase even sent me a congratulatory telegram! (And I can tell you, the amount of time, energy and expense that is entailed in sending someone a telegram is a lot more than would go into ‘pinging off’ a text these days.) The fact is, and it says little that is attractive about the acting community, that it can get so competitive at times in this profession that jealousy and envy jump to the top of the heap, and camaraderie and solidarity leap out the window and take a bus to shitbag city.

One final anecdote (told to Jane by Sir Johnny Mills) to illustrate the rivalry and jealousy that can exist between actors: just after the war, Sidney Shipton and Hermione Gingold were appearing in a Noël Coward play in the West End. Shipton had a famously rivalry with Alec Guinness dating back some years, and it was known that they disliked each other. At the same time as the Coward play was running, Guinness was in a comedy up the road at the Criterion. While Guinness gained rave reviews, Shipton received poor notices and soon after-wards suffered a nervous breakdown. It was presumed by most that this was a result of the less-than-kind reviews he had received at the hands of the critics. However, once he’d recovered, he confessed to the critic Shorley Residue: ‘I knew the play I was in wasn’t any good, and I could never get to grips with my character; but Guinness getting rave reviews up the road – that’s what caused me to lose my marbles!!’
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	1
	The most basic tip here is: if your surname begins with a letter early in the alphabet (A, B, etc.) fight tooth and nail to have the billing in alphabetical order. If your name is towards the end (W, X, Y, Z, etc.) then push for the exact opposite. 



	2
	If you feel that you’ve been the victim of unfair billing on a film, take it up with the actor (or actors) who has come before you on the credits. A good place to do this would be at the party that usually follows a screening for the cast and crew. Alcohol traditionally flows freely at these, so your inhibitions should be loosened, allowing you to ‘go for the jugular’ and let them know about the unfairness of it all. 



	3
	Even if you don’t get top billing, that doesn’t mean that your name has to be small on a theatre poster. It’s better to have a short name, as, depending on the design, this can be blown up to fill the width of the poster – especially if the name has to fit on one line. For this reason, I have always been rather envious of the TV director Ed Bye. 



	4
	If your name isn’t big on a theatre poster, do some individual leafleting outside the building making sure that it’s YOU who has star billing! 



	5
	In a General Election, speak to each candidate running in your constituency and tell them why you think you deserve top billing in every production you are involved in. Vote for the one you feel is most sympathetic and can promote your case in Parliament. 






48 Who subsequently dropped out of the production.

49 The National Theatre.

50 Thus David Williams became David Walliams and Ewan McZregor became Ewan McGregor.

51 Real name: Ziggy Zagreb.

52 For those readers who are interested in how my work in the theatre has been generally received by the critics, this book contains an appendix at the back where some reviews are collected. I also reflect on these reviews and respond to the criticism therein.

53 How can a performance be both ‘overwhelming’ and ‘underplayed’?
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If The Cap
Fits . . .



I HAVE MET members of the Royal Family on several occasions. In 2011, at a VE Day anniversary concert starring Vera Lynn and David Essex, I met Prince Harry for the first54 time. I was particularly interested in meeting the young royal because I had recently read a book by an author called Barry Bouffante which questioned whether the boy prince and the adult prince were actually the same person. I had spotted the book in a ‘bargain bin’ in Ladbroke Grove and bought it for the ‘princely’ (!) sum of one pound and fifty pence. It soon accompanied me on a flight to Kuala Lumpur, where I was to appear in a touring production of Eugene O’Neill’s Long Day’s Journey Into Night. (The tour only lasted three days, after two members of the cast died in separate incidents and another was bewitched.)

Throne to the Wolves proved so enthralling that I wasn’t aware until I landed many hours later that the flight had caused deep vein thrombosis to develop in my legs (painful but not totally debilitating). The book was fascinating.55 Bouffante produced compelling evidence, based on photographs sourced mostly from OK! and Hello magazines, which indicated clearly that Prince Harry at ten years old and Prince Harry at twenty years old could not possibly be the same person. I had often suspected this myself, as frankly the Prince at these ages in his life looks remarkably different. It is something I often point out to friends, and they invariably agree with me. Bouffante had also Googled the confidential medical records of Harry as a baby and as an adult. Some of these findings made startling and compelling reading: for instance, the circumference of Harry’s head at three months old was somewhere between twelve and fifteen inches. At aged twenty, his head had a radius of over twenty inches. Even a normal increase in the size of the skull as one grows older does not account for this discrepancy. This fact alone would raise suspicions, but Bouffante also points out several other alarming differences. Harry’s hair as a baby was soft and lightly coloured; as an adult his hair was thicker and darker. Of course, as one grows older the hair naturally changes, but even a normal thickening and darkening that one would naturally expect as a child becomes an adult does not account for this discrepancy.56

The differences between photographs of the younger and older prince are very noticeable even to the casual observer. Bizarrely, Bouffante’s clever investigation, rather than being warmly welcomed, produced scepticism and even derision in some quarters of the media. ‘A load of old tosh’, declared The Telegraph. ‘Piss-poor research and pure fantasy’, yelped The Financial Times. Former BBC royal correspondent Nicholas Mitchell57 (whom Prince Charles had called an ‘odious cunt’ in an unguarded aside to his young sons during an informal press conference at a ski resort) waded in with ‘this book is pure shit’. Rather than being lauded because of doing his entire research by Googling and looking at old photographs which he saw in popular magazines, Bouffante was criticised for not being ‘forensic’ enough in his enquiries. This seemed to me grossly unfair and somewhat snobbish. One of the things I find absolutely stifling about the worlds of science and academia is the amount of credence given to hard work, diligence and proper research. As a result, we end up with old bores such as Mary Beard and Simon Schama on our television screens. Both Beard’s and Schama’s programmes are unremittingly awful: full of facts and figures and ‘forensic’ detail but sorely lacking in quality and objectivity. What Bouffante brought to his Prince Harry investigations was a passionate proselytising zeal and a determination not to be swayed by conventional scientific reasoning.
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Prince Harry. The circumference of Harry’s head at three months old was somewhere between twelve and fifteen inches. At aged twenty, his head had a radius of over twenty inches. (See Chapter 6).



So what does Bouffante think happened to the real Prince Harry? And who is the ‘ginger imposter’? Sadly, we will have to wait for the next instalment – Bouffante plans to get to the bottom of the mystery over three sequels – but I am certainly intrigued. For the moment it is enough for me to say that not only is Throne to the Wolves by far the best book ever written about Prince Harry, but it is also easily the best book I have ever read.

When I was talking to my publisher about the title of this chapter, I thought ‘Those Heads Don’t Match’ would be a wonderful choice – not just because it neatly describes the controversy over whether there is more than one Prince Harry, but also because it can also be used with equal precision to summarise the problematic subject of miscasting and the ‘mismatching’ of actor to character. Because I am an unusually versatile performer, I have literally never been miscast in anything. Of course, the integrity of the part remains paramount. Even when I tackled the loveable orphan ‘Annie’ in the musical of the same name, when I was in my early forties,58 it was only after intense discussions with the director, Drayton Curfew, to ensure that my re-interpretation would, rather than stretch the audience’s credulity, enhance and embellish the characterisation. (It was Drayton’s idea that I perform with a full beard.) Even though the show closed after three performances, it was a hugely rewarding and satisfying experience, and for many years I resisted Jane’s attempts to scrub it off my CV.59

However, other actors have not always been as lucky. A particularly tragic example was the wildly inappropriate casting of Ray Purchase in Arthur Miller’s marvellous Death of a Salesman. Wally Lomax60 is one of the great creations of the American theatre. His story is also a universal tale which beautifully encapsulates the dilemmas of many men in the twentieth century, living lives of ‘quiet desperation’ in the suburbs. Although the play was set in Chicago,61 it could just as easily have been located anywhere in the Western or Islamic world. Lomax himself is the ultimate anti-super hero. Hard working, loyal to his family, trying to be a good father and husband, his sense of decency, fair play and honest morality all add up to a deceptively complex, yet attractive character.

In my opinion, Purchase is not good at playing anybody, so this was always going to be beyond him. I remember at the time (the 1990s – the era of ‘Britpop’ and the Millenium Dome62) begging the producer, Septon Crober, not to offer the role to Purchase. ‘He’s going to fuck this up big time!’ I recall saying, as we grappled on the ground outside the Wheatsheaf pub in Fitzrovia. I then offered Crober money, perhaps two or three hundred pounds, to reconsider his decision. But for some fucking reason, he would not relent, so Jane and I attended the opening night literally trembling with trepidation.

As we sat nervously waiting for the curtain to open, we pondered once again on why Purchase had been selected for this iconic role . . . Was it because his mother was a prostitute and his father was a paedophile?63 Would his ghastly back-ground and shit childhood upbringing (as the illegitimate offspring of a prostitute and a paedophile) give him an insight into the role that a better or more established actor might not have? It didn’t seem like a very convincing theory. But maybe, just maybe, he wouldn’t be as bad in the role as we feared, and he would somehow ‘pull something out of the top drawer’ and surprise us all.

In the end, he was even worse than I’d imagined. Jane and I agreed that it was one of the most appalling performances we had ever seen anywhere – not just in the theatre, but also encompassing cinema, television and every branch of the performance arts. It gives me no pleasure at all to declare that I led the booing that was instigated during the second act to try to force the hopeless buffoon off stage. However, I felt that I, and the audience, had been left with little choice and it would have been actually irresponsible not to do so. ‘Get off, you fucking tool!’ was a typical example of the admonishments hurled by the angry and appalled audience members. The general mood amongst the disenchanted throng was hostile to say the least, but Purchase, bullish to the last, carried on as if he was Max Bygraves going down a storm at the London Palladium in 1961. He finally blustered his way through to the end, at which point I galvanised perhaps ten or twenty disenchanted theatregoers to come with me to the box office to demand our money back. At this point, I saw Purchase rush past us on his way out of the theatre. (He was probably wary of a mob appearing at the stage door, so chose the less conventional exit.) Before I could give chase myself, or organise my fellow disgruntled punters into an improvised lynch mob to administer ‘rough justice’, the disgraced ‘salesman’, after having completely ‘died’ on stage, hopped on a motor scooter and vanished into the night.

Ray Purchase as Wally Lomax had been a classic example of miscasting; but there are literally countless other examples: Tommy Cooper in Long Day’s Journey Into Night, Russell Brand in I Claudius, Alan Carr in The Crucible and Danny Dyer in Aida all failed to wow the critics. If theatre is overly stocked with examples of performers clearly out of their depth, cinema is even more starkly illustrated with actors wildly miscast in roles they are not at all suited to. Who will, for example, ever forget Anthony Hopkins floundering terribly, to a truly embarrassing degree, in The Remains of the Day? I think generally Hoppy is marvellous at staring out of windows while giving the impression that he has something else on his mind,64 but give him a role that requires real acting chops and he’s usually found wanting.

Sometimes my views don’t reflect the wider public orthodoxy – for instance, I always felt that John Wayne was miscast whenever he played cowboys – but I generally find my instincts are correct. Here is a random selection of what I regard as serious casting errors: Laurence Olivier as Richard III (or any Shakespearean role), Al Pacino in The Godfather, Paul Scofield in A Man For All Seasons, John Cleese in Fawlty Towers and Marlon Brando in Whoops, Apocalypse Now. How much better all these plays, films and TV shows would have been if somebody more suited to the character had played the role.

Conversely, it is also puzzling – and often amusing – to contemplate what would have happened if the original choice for roles had agreed to take up the offer. Can you imagine, instead of Daniel Day-Lewis, Vinny Jones playing Lincoln? Bruce Forsyth in Twelve Years A Slave? How about Monty Python’s Terry Jones as evil SS commander Amon Goeth (in a role masterfully played by Ralph Fiennes) in Schindler’s List? Or Ricky Gervais as Alan Turing in The Imitation Game? Yet, incredibly, these were the producers’ first choice in each case. Clearly the Hollywood execs had their eyes firmly fixed on the box office rather than taking the time to consider who would actually best fit the bill.

To the public, it may seem strange that Bruce Forsyth was up for a role which subsequently went to Michael Fassbender. But this can often happen due to numerous factors – such as if the actors share the same agent, are available to work during the same period and command approximately the same fee. All theses factors are usually out of the public view but play a crucial role behind the scenes. As well as Twelve Years A Slave, Forsyth was also in the frame for Fassbender’s other hit movies, Hunger (about an IRA hunger striker) and Shame (about a sex addict obsessed with his sister). In fact, he initially agreed to appear in Shame, and some early scenes were even completed, but then another series of Strictly Come Dancing was commissioned and Bruce withdrew from the project.
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I think I have described in detail the many pitfalls of miscasting. It is an area closely linked to typecasting. This is the familiar problem of an actor/actress being closely associated with one type of role and finding themselves ‘stuck in a rut’ of playing similar characters for the rest of his/her life. One thinks of Tom Hanks, who, after playing the hapless halfwit Forrest Gump, was then doomed to portray foolish idiots and gormless imbeciles for the remainder of his career. One could also mention Michael Gambon, a most versatile actor, but since playing a grumpy hospital patient with a skin disease in Dennis Potter’s The Singing Detective (1986) has rarely played anything much different since. Peter O’Toole regularly complained that after appearing as Lawrence of Arabia he was inundated by producers offering parts where the character was required to do little else but ride camels. Pierce Brosnan will always be associated with someone who mows lawns after starring in The Lawnmower Man. (Stereotyping can also, of course, occur outside the acting world. Margaret Thatcher, for instance, will always be linked to her position as British Prime Minister, or Pope John Paul II as a Pope.)

Because I excel in a wide variety of roles, I have never been in this unfortunate situation myself but can understand the frustrations of many performers who have. I have known three actors personally who have attempted to kill themselves as a result of being typecast. Bizarrely, each then got a reputation for being suicidal and were subsequently offered numerous roles as neurotics and depressives.

Actors, generally, and especially unsuccessful ones, will of course take more or less anything that’s going. They have little choice. It is an insecure profession. Even superstars such as Daniel Day-Lewis and Angelina Jolie are usually forced to do pantomimes at Christmas. So what hope is there for the aktoruntermenschen65 down at the bottom of the heap?

It is to be expected, then, that being miscast or typecast is not a problem which many performers contemplate when they are starting out in their career. My advice to a young actor would be, if in doubt, always accept a role. I would definitely advise this no matter how bad, humiliating, degrading or physically dangerous it might turn out be. Even if the decision results in a fatal blow to your career, you end up homeless and hungry and searching through dustbins for something to eat, and you regard it as the worst decision you ever made in your entire life, I would still say ‘sign on the dotted line’. After all, one never knows when the next job offer will arrive in your inbox.

I heard a very funny story once about a classically trained actor who was rather desperately searching for work in the 1970s. His agent, after exploring many avenues, finally managed to get him a part in the Wombles’ movie, Wombling Free. The rather pompous actor protested that he was ‘far too good’ to accept a role in a children’s film, and only the fact that he had recently undergone a costly divorce and urgently needed cash forced him into accepting the part. The first day on set, he turned up telling everybody that he had once been in Richard III with Olivier and saying how he hated being in this silly little film. The director was patient with him up to a point – after all, he had been a much-respected performer in his day. But when the unhappy thesp complained further that the costume he was wearing was hot and uncomfortable, the director finally had enough. He turned to the actor and looked at him straight in the eye before issuing the terse directive: ‘Remember you’re a Womble.’

It’s always amusing to see an arrogant actor’s pomposity pricked, and I think this was a perfect example!
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	1
	If you find yourself constantly playing knights in armour in films or plays set in medieval times, it may be because you are wearing suits of armour to auditions. Check your wardrobe before setting out.



	2
	Similarly, to avoid unwelcome typecasting, constantly change your image and make sure your publicity photo is regularly updated by your agent. Seven or eight different hairstyles a year recommended, and if you are a man, experiment with different moustache variations – even ‘Hitler’ ones. (Obviously this will work to your advantage when auditioning to play Hitler.) 



	3
	If you are a woman but feel more suited to male roles, consider sex-assignment surgery. It’s a drastic step, but the move earned Dustin Hoffman an Oscar nomination for Tootsie in 1982. 



	4
	Try to find parts in productions which deliberately set out to turn perceived ideas of casting literally on their head. For instance, Alan Parker’s Bugsy Malone, where middle-aged gangsters were played by children, and Neil Jordan’s Interview with the Vampire, which cast non-vampires in many of the leading roles. 



	5
	Avoid typecasting in real life by re-inventing yourself in dramatic fashion. Faking your own suicide by leaving your clothes on a deserted beach and ‘disappearing’ before re-emerging to start a new life in a distant country can often dispel feeling of staleness, boredom or dissatisfaction. 






54 and last!

55 However, like so many books one reads nowadays, especially non-fiction ones, it suffered from a surfeit of footnotes. Almost every page had numerous diversions and additions tacked on at the bottom of the page, which had the infuriating effect of distracting the reader from the main text. Reading most of these notes proved to be a huge waste of time. Almost all of them seemed to be irrelevant, with little connection to Bouffante’s overall thesis. Several times I found myself almost screaming, ‘Get on with the story!’ Authors – if you have to put footnotes in your book, may I suggest that they never be more than a line or two long? Also, please don’t digress from the central theme of your book and go on a series of literary wild goose chases – or, even worse, use it as an excuse to name drop! I have had many conversations with friends about this subject over the years, including such established writers as Salman Rushdie and the late PD James. Rushdie reckons that this type of carry-on is done purely to allow the author to waffle on if he (or she) can’t find anything substantial or relevant to write about. Of course Salman writes mostly fiction, where footnotes are rare, but I asked him whether, if he ever considered writing a non-fiction book about his experiences with The Satanic Verses, he would be tempted to put little notes at the bottom of the page. He said that if his publisher required a really big book, for example one consisting of one hundred or two hundred thousand words, he would be sorely tempted to do this, as every sentence written would mean that he would be closer to his goal. I said that having a fatwa put on him by religious extremists – which could easily have resulted in his death – must have been quite exciting, and I suggested that it probably wouldn’t be much of a chore to come up with lots of interesting things to write about that – therefore, there probably wouldn’t be much need for extraneous footnotes consisting of long-laboured sentences to achieve the ultimate goal of a very big book. Salman agreed that, yes, it had been very exciting to be under constant threat of being violently killed, but the actual day-to-day experience of having to hide from everybody in case they were a potential murderer was actually quite boring. He reckoned that he’d struggle to write more than ten thousand words on the matter: this is about the average length of a Vanity Fair article. This certainly surprised me – if I were ever under the threat of imminent death from religious extremists, I’m sure I’d have plenty to say about it! However, we did end up agreeing that an overuse of lengthy footnotes is completely exasperating for the reader, and is something that should be done sparingly and only when absolutely necessary.

56 Although seven scientists, when asked to further investigate the issues for Channel 4’s Dispatches programme, claimed that it did. My earlier comment about the circumference of Harry’s skull is also highly contested.

57 EDITOR’S NOTE: Actually Nicholas Witchell.

58 In the original production, Annie is an eleven-year-old girl.

59 A brief section of the closing musical finale can still be found on YouTube.

60 EDITOR’S NOTE: Actually, Willie Loman.

61 EDITOR’S NOTE: Another correction! New York.

62 A complete waste of time and money erected against the people’s wishes by Tony Blair’s ‘New Labour’ government. I had been warning about the folly of erecting this ‘white elephant’ for several years beforehand.

63 See extensive discussion of this topic on page 225.

64 See in-depth discussion of this earlier.

65 Literally ‘inferior race of actors’. I have got into trouble in the past for using this term derived from Nazi ideology, but I think it neatly sums up non-experienced performers near the bottom rung of their profession.
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It Can Be A Brutal
Business . . .



I HAVE ALREADY told several unhappy tales of my encounters with that bastard from the BBC, Mews Frumpty, and how he offered me three separate jobs before dumping me on each occasion. These experiences certainly soured my relationship with the corporation, but some years before, when I had just become an established face on both television and stage, I had a rather happier experience. It was also my first real taste of the ruthlessness (thankfully not directed at me in this instance) that is often employed by TV channels.

It was 1983, and, somewhat to my bemusement, I suddenly became an unwilling pawn in a deadly game of cat and mouse between the BBC and ITV. That year, both broadcasters had decided to set up early-morning television breakfast shows for people either too distracted by young children, or simply not intelligent enough (!!), to listen to the Today programme on Radio 4. While ITV had been planning their major enterprise for years (the idea came from none other than the legendary figure of David Frost), the BBC had decided at the last moment – literally, the day before the launch of TV-am on ITV – to start up their own alternative breakfast show as a simple spoiling device to drive viewers away from the rival channel. Frank Bough, Selina Scott, Nick Ross and Russell Grant (who all just happened to be in the BBC Television Centre that day) were approached by a producer and, for want of anything better to do, all agreed to appear on the programme. (Johnny Dankworth, the jazz musician, was initially offered a role as the resident weatherman but declined when he discovered he’d have to get up before midday.)

Meanwhile, ITV had spent over two billion pounds (a fortune at the time) to lure Angela Rippon, Anna Ford and veterinarian66 historian Robert Kee to TV-am. Less than an hour before both shows were due to launch at 6 a.m., I received two phone calls in rapid succession from Frank Bough and Angela Rippon. I knew Frank briefly, as my uncle had owned a racehorse who needed to be gelded (castrated) and Frank had called around to the house with a list of people who could do the job. I had never met Angela, although as well as being the world’s most female newsreader, she was also a dancer on the Morecambe and Wise TV show in the mid 1970s, giving the (by that time, in my opinion, a little jaded) programme a much-needed touch of feminist glamour.

Desperate as ever to ‘get one leg over’ ITV, Frank was the first to call. His initial offer was twenty thousand pounds to sign me up for an exclusive ten-year contract. I could do ‘anything at all’ on the show as long as I didn’t sign up for ITV. Although I was obviously pleased that he had offered me a ‘free role’ on the programme, I still felt that I needed some more information about my responsibilities. Frank paused for a moment, then listed off a few things I could possibly do. From what I recall, he suggested flower arranging, origami, star gazing (astronomy), horoscope reading (astrology) and ‘racing tips’. I said I’d think about it, but before the phone was back resting on its cradle, Angela called from TV-am headquarters at Camden Lock.

Like Frank, she offered me complete freedom on the ITV show, but I felt her offer of five pounds per appearance was much too low. As with Bough, I pressed her on what she envisioned my role on the programme would be. At this point, it seemed obvious to me that she was stumped and hadn’t really thought this issue through. Her main concern and worry was that I would sign a long-term contract with the BBC, and she was determined to stop me from doing this. She seemed quite anxious and panicky (this was by now about twenty minutes from the launch of TV-am), and when the line went dead at the other end, it was clear that she had fainted. However, she recovered quickly and within minutes had sent me a fax containing several proposals. One of these was called ‘Nude Shakespeare Art Class’. Her suggestion was that I would pose naked for a group of enthusiastic amateur artists as I recited some famous speeches from Macbeth, Hamlet and other great Shakespearean works.67 I thought this was a rather desperate effort from Angela, which she had clearly made up on the spur of the moment, and my instincts were now leaning heavily towards signing for the BBC. I made the big decision, called Frank and said I’d be happy to come on board.

With ten minutes to go to launch, BBC Breakfast Time had only planned fifteen minutes of content. Also, there were no cameras in the studio, no set, no technicians (due to a last-minute strike) and the electricity supply had yet to be connected.68 After this opening fifteen-minute item (an interview with Richard Briers, who stood in as a last-minute replacement for Duncan Goodhew), there were still two hours and forty-five minutes of air time to fill, and when I asked the producer what would be happening in that part of the show, he replied, ‘I haven’t got a clue.’ And yet, somehow, against all the odds, we made it through. At midday, amidst much relief, the champagne flowed freely around Television Centre, and we all felt that we had been part of something truly historic. My own contribution, completely spontaneous, was to play the Tomorrow’s World theme on a mouth organ while dressed as a pirate. This segment, at half an hour, was probably too long, but the duty log at the BBC showed several messages of support from delighted viewers.

I made some further appearances on BBC Breakfast Time in the following months, but it was rather a sideline to my main occupation of appearing on stage, TV and film. However, the general impression was that when I did turn up on the show, ratings increased and that I was proving very popular with the audience. It wasn’t a complete surprise, then, when I received a phone call from Greg Dyke at ITV later that year. He had just been brought in to their breakfast show to stem the flow of viewers to Frank Bough and co. and offered me a job where I, along with Roland Rat, would interview celebrities. (Roland Rat was a strange puppet made out of cloth who proved hugely popular with viewers. Along with Greg’s introduction of bingo, celebrity gossip and horoscopes, he is generally credited with turning around the fortunes of the ailing programme.) Jane’s advice to me about the offer was to ‘take it immediately’, but I had many reservations. I remember thinking, is it just a bit too downmarket?
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The BBC Breakfast Time line-up; 1983. (From left to right, back row: Unknown, Unknown, David Icke. Front row: Frank Bough, Selina Scott, Nick Ross). Frank hired me for Breakfast Time, but wasn’t too pleased when he learned I’d tried to jump ship to ITV!



However, I agreed to meet Greg at his favourite restaurant in Notting Hill to discuss his plan further. We were having a very pleasant lunch – Greg is an amiable and jovial character and very pleasant company – when, without warning, his mood changed abruptly. He seemed suddenly very anxious and started fiddling nervously with his beard, loosening a tuft of hair which fell into his dessert. Then he stood up dramatically and said in a conspiratorial fashion, ‘We have to get out – now!’ After leaving a generous wad of cash on the table for the waitress,69 he ushered me outside and unceremoniously bundled me into his car, which was parked (illegally?) on the pavement.

Before I knew it, we were barrelling along at top speed on the motorway en route to Greg’s house just outside Brighton. I could see that he was constantly glancing in his rear-view mirror, so I asked him what on earth was happening. He told me that we were being followed by a white Vauxhall Astra. I looked in the mirror and saw that the pursuing car was being driven by none other than Frank Bough. Greg said that he had seen Bough through a window outside the restaurant and knew that something was up. He had immediately decided that we had to leave. ‘Why is he after us, Greg?’ I asked. ‘Because he doesn’t want you to go to ITV,’ was the stark reply. The implication was that Bough wanted me dead.

Some ten miles outside London, after we had left the motorway, Greg tried to ‘lose’ the BBC man. The chase – which it now undoubtedly was – became very tense and scary but was also undeniably exciting. It felt very similar to being in an episode of the 1960s show The Saint, starring Roger Moore as the dashing Simon Templar. Soon it was night-time, and we found ourselves hurtling along narrow country roads with Bough still in hot pursuit.

The headlights from his Vauxhall seemed to be getting brighter, a sure sign that he was gaining on us. At one crucial moment it looked like he was about to overtake us and force us to stop, when Greg, in a bold and daring manoeuvre, suddenly jerked the steering wheel dramatically to the left. I thought we were about to spin out of control, but the TV-am supremo, with no little skill, steadied the vehicle immediately and, after some audible skidding, we regained traction on the road. Behind us I heard a loud crash. The smart move from Greg, straight out of the James Hunt motor racing manual, had forced Bough’s car to crash into a tree at full speed, and we could hear the vehicle’s horn blaring in a constant wail as we headed on up the road. Greg threw his head back and chuckled with laughter. ‘TV-am 1, BBC Breakfast Time 0!’70 was his triumphant comment.

When we arrived at his house, Greg uncorked a very welcome bottle of wine. We were both exhausted and relieved to have survived the high-speed car chase in one piece. It seems odd now, but I remember neither of us expressing much concern for Bough. The likelihood, after all, was that he had been killed.71

As if the day’s events hadn’t been memorable enough, this episode still contains more drama. The wine was going down very well when Greg suddenly remembered that he had to put the bins out for the refuse collection the next morning. Before he left to go outside, he asked me to feed his two Irish wolfhound dogs, which were in the scullery, next to the kitchen. This was apparently simply a matter of pouring four or five large spoonfuls of Pedigree Chum and arranging some Bonio dog biscuits into two special bowls which had the dogs’ names written on them: ‘Attenborough’ and ‘Isaacs’.72

I said, ‘Yes, of course, no problem’ as Greg left, and proceeded to rummage around the drawers in the kitchen looking for a can opener. I eventually found one and started to open the tins. I spooned out the food, and after placing some dog biscuits on top I opened the door to the adjoining scullery. To my great surprise, into the kitchen bounded two of the biggest dogs I had ever seen in my life. They both seemed unusually aggressive and began snarling in a hugely alarming manner.

Before I knew what was happening, Attenborough had clamped his teeth into Isaacs’s throat, and blood was spurting everywhere. The ghastly, shocking scene unfolding before me was accompanied by the most sickening sounds of barking, whining, snarling and choking. This terrible sight shocked me to a great degree, and I found myself rooted to the spot. These were massive dogs, and I felt helpless to intervene. Eventually it became clear that Isaacs, the dog which had been attacked, was dead. Attenborough then began to eat him. I had never witnessed canine cannibalism – or indeed any kind of cannibalism – before, and I was utterly stunned. Soon, the aggressive, bloodthirsty beast had consumed his rival entirely, leaving just a few bones. It was the most horrendous thing I had ever seen. Why he hadn’t been content just to eat the Pedigree Chum and Bonio bisuits – two reputable and tasty brands which most dogs loved – I just don’t know.

Eventually, Greg returned from putting the bins out. He could hardly take in the scene before him.

‘What’s happened here?’ he enquired.

‘One of your dogs has eaten the other dog,’ I replied.

For quite a while, Dyke stared at the immobile hound lying prone on the bloody floor (after consuming Attenborough, Isaacs had fainted from shock). Like me, Greg could just not comprehend how something so dreadful could happen in his kitchen. It was like the aftermath of a visit from the Manson family.

‘For fuck’s sake . . .’ he said, eventually.

‘I know, yes,’ I replied. ‘I put down the bowls of dog food, and then one of the dogs just attacked the other one and started to eat him. There was nothing I could do.’

To his credit, Greg soon took control of the situation. The TV-am vet was called to take away both dogs: one for cremation and one to be put down by lethal injection.73 We were both in a melancholy mood by the end of the evening. Too shocked to even think of returning to London, I stayed in Greg’s spare room.

Travelling back by train the following afternoon, I was suddenly struck by a metaphor that had unfolded before me in Dyke’s kitchen the night before. Dog eats dog, I thought. Both literally, as in the case of the wolfhound bloodbath, and metaphorically, in the case of the great rivalry between the BBC and ITV breakfast programmes.
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‘Attenborough’, one of Greg Dyke’s Irish wolfhounds. As I watched helplessly, he killed and ate another wolfhound on Greg’s kitchen floor.



It was around this time that my private life suddenly took a turn for the better. Hissie Oversight had decided to install a television74 in the Colonial because she wanted to look at ‘the snooker’,75 and I happened to be watching BBC Sport one night with Ed. Not long after Steve Davis had rattled in another maximum break, Hissie turned the channel over to ITV where some motorcycling competition was taking place on a speedway track. We seemed to have joined the action at an exciting moment. A spectacular collision had taken place which had unseated two riders, and it was clear that one of the participants was not happy. After picking himself up off the ground, he made a beeline for the other rider, who lay prone on the track a short distance away. The first figure then took off his helmet and started berating the man on the ground. Presumably he felt that this opponent had been the cause of the collision. Soon, boots and fists were flying and a serious altercation was taking place.

It was only then that I noticed that the first motorcyclist was not a man but in fact a beautiful girl. ‘Look at her, Ed,’ I said. ‘She’s a bit of all right.’ Ed mumbled agreement. It was clear that he had a sex interest in this person too. I very much fancied what I saw onscreen. This angry lady motorcyclist had long blonde hair and was also the proud owner of a very attractive figure. It was evident that she was quite a feisty individual. Little did I know that in less than a month I would be marrying this lady in a beautiful ceremony on a beach in faraway Thailand.
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	1
	Rivalry is healthy, but it can sometimes go too far. (Blur v Oasis; Celtic v Rangers; the so-called ‘Islamic State’ v so-called civilization.) Make sure to maintain a clear head at all times to keep things in perspective. Exercise regularly, keep to a healthy diet and walk long distances instead of taking taxis. 



	2
	Stay ahead of your rivals by leaking stories to the press about their various sexual indiscretions and general disreputable behaviour. Bad news for somebody else nearly always means good news for you! 



	3
	Any advantage you may have over your opponent must always be used. Height, age, experience and intelligence can all be brought into play. It’s a basic Darwinian principle: the cream rises to the top and the chumps fall by the wayside – or end up on Celebrity Big Brother.



	4
	Kidnapping is not something I recommend. However, if a rival ‘goes missing’ when the job of presenting a new BBC or ITV Saturday-night variety show arises, then the onus is surely on him or her to escape from captivity and turn up for the audition. (Just make sure the disappearance cannot be linked to you . . .) 



	5
	Blackmail is a last resort – but it is still a resort. 






66 EDITOR’S NOTE: ‘veteran’.

67 A very similar programme, presented by Jimmy Hill, was transmitted on UK Living in 2006.

68 Frank told me later that the opening show had cost fifteen pounds, as opposed to ITV’s version which had cost five million.

69 The service had been excellent, not unconnected to the fact that Greg was known as a ‘big tipper’.

70 Dyke was a big football fan and later became chairman of the FA.

71 Still, the next day, I was somewhat relieved to see Frank take his usual place on the BBC Breakfast Time settee to introduce the movie reviews. He explained to Selina Scott that the large neck brace he was wearing was due to a gardening accident. Hah!

72 Named after David Attenborough, former controller of BBC 2, and Jeremy Isaacs, former chief of Channel 4.

73 A complicated procedure, as the dog which had been eaten, Isaacs, had first to be sucked out of Attenborough before he could be cremated. Attenborough was then quickly ‘put to sleep’.

74 A short-lived experiment, as many of the regulars, including me, complained that it wasn’t appropriate to have it in the club.

75 A sport which was at the height of its popularity in the early 1980s. See reference in the chapter on ‘Work’ to the Chas ’n’ Dave song ‘Snooker Loopy’ in connection with the Greek-American actor Telly Savalas.
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Using Your
Imagination . . .



WHENEVER I HEAR actors discuss the art of radio acting, they often say things like ‘I couldn’t give two figs for radio acting’, ‘I absolutely hate radio acting’ or ‘Radio acting is shit’. Yet radio acting, when tackled from the right perspective, can be immensely rewarding and almost as good as proper acting.

As both Benedict Cumberbatch and Eddie Redmayne have pointed out, the problem with radio acting is that the listener at home can’t see you. What do they mean by that? Simply, that in proper, more conventional, acting, one looks at the performer. This is true of both theatre and film acting. (Less so in television acting, which I discuss elsewhere in the book.) Imagine any theatre performance or film you’ve ever attended. The performers are either on stage (theatre) or projected on to a large screen (film). We can actually see what they are doing. For instance, if an actor opens a door, we can see him open a door. If an actress attacks her lover with a sword, we can see her attack her lover with a sword.

This is not true of radio. Since the listener at home cannot see the action taking place, the radio producer has to compensate by doing one of two things: either inform the listener what is happening by using sound effects, or simply tell the listener what is happening.

Let’s take the above example of an actress attacking her lover with a sword: if we want to use sound effects to tell what’s happening, we would have an effects artist at the side of the stage. The effects artist could simply say the word ‘swish’ in a dramatic way, he could physically move a sword swiftly through the air, directly mimicking the action and the swishing noise a blade makes as it moves through the air at great speed, or he could play a suitable track from a BBC sound-effects record. But the listener at home may still be confused. A ‘swish’ sound could suggest many things – a lady’s gown moving at speed, a dance movement or a mild asthma attack. So in order to clarify the action, it is important that one of the actors in the scene gives clues as to what is about to happen. The actress could say, ‘Look, I have a sword in my hand,’ or – and this is slightly cleverer and less ‘on the nose’ – her lover could say, ‘Why have you got a sword in your hand?’ Once the listener (unless he or she is a complete twit) knows that the actress has a sword in her hand, the ‘swishing’ can be deduced as the sound of the sword moving at speed towards the lover.

An example of telling the listener what is happening would be if the actress said, ‘I am attacking you with this sword.’

Some idiot once said, ‘I prefer radio, because the pictures are better.’ Whoever said that76 obviously knew nothing at all about radio, because radio doesn’t have any pictures. That is why it is almost impossible to do drama, comedy or panel games on the wireless. People, in general, have little or no imagination, so the idea of listening to radio is anathema to them. It’s just a lot of sounds with no pictures to go with it. That is why sport is generally never heard on the radio. It would be absurd to hear someone on the radio describing a sporting event: ‘He’s kicked the ball there . . . and he’s kicked it over there . . . and he’s kicked it over there again . . .’ Who would listen to that rubbish? The BBC abolished its radio drama department a few years, and I don’t think anybody even noticed. Yes, there is still The Archers, but it is a programme increasingly out of touch with the modern world (farming?!!!??), and I suspect that it will soon be put out of its misery altogether. I predict that as the BBC comes under increasing pressure to stop making programmes entirely, all its radio stations will merge and become very much like Radio 2 is at the moment. This will leave the way clear for Chris Evans to become head of BBC Radio, and eventually Prime Minister of Britain.

So although I think in many ways radio acting has had its day, when tackled from the right perspective, and in the hands of someone who has mastered the medium, such as Nina Whenge or Jack Nad, it can still be immensely rewarding and almost as good as proper acting.
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A typical radio play. Under increasing pressure to stop making programmes entirely, the BBC abolished its radio drama department some years ago.



I have sometimes been reluctant to discuss my successful career in voice-overs. Although it is a definite craft in itself, as distinctive as – I shall randomly pick some examples of professions out of the air here – landscape gardening and the manufacture of gypsy caravans, it still very much falls into the category of ‘performing’. Why my reluctance to talk about it?77 Possibly because it is undeniably an overtly ‘commercial undertaking’ and not particularly regarded in high esteem by my peers or the general public. But nonetheless, I am rather well known for it, and, as my agent Jane always reminds me, ‘It pays the rent!’ (as well as her commission), so it is worth a mention here.

Perhaps the most famous voice-over artist of the 1970s was Dick Circus. He plugged every type of product or service, from landscape gardening to gypsy caravans, and was a familiar figure around Soho, rushing from recording studio to recording studio. A famous catchphrase amongst advertisers at the time was ‘Get Dick in’. His voice was described as ‘a cross between gravel and gravy’, and at the height of his fame he was rumoured to be on a greater annual salary than the chairman of the Bank of England. Unassuming to the point of self-loathing, he was popular in the industry and, while his fondness for alcohol was well known, his arrest in 2011 as part of Scotland Yard’s Operation Yew Tree still came as a surprise to many. His subsequent suicide was generally welcomed amongst old colleagues as ‘the only decent way out’. Sadly, but perhaps inevitably, after details of his private life became publicised, a plaque to him outside Switchblade Studios in Poland Street, where he recorded all of his ‘Mister Weeney-Beeney Butter Mints’ commercials from 1970–73, was badly vandalised.

Another familiar voice (if not face) was Liz Phulpz. Liz, despite being a woman, could easily ‘do’ men, and her versatility was legendary. Perhaps she was best known for her series of Revlux Nylon stocking commercials in the late 1960s (‘Revlux makes you feeeeeeeeeeeel like a woman . . .’). She suddenly and mysteriously disappeared from the scene in the mid seventies, and it was a surprise to us all when she re-emerged as a key member in the German revolutionary Marxist group the Red Army Faction. She made the headlines again when she blew herself up with a home-made bomb in Hamburg in 1978.

It was partly because of Liz that I got my first voice-over ‘gig’. She had failed to turn up for an appointment to do a studio session promoting a fancy/snack product, and I received a call from Jane asking if I could step in. (Apparently the studio manager had seen me in a play I was in at the time and thought my ‘velvety voice’ would be perfect for the fancy (snack).)

The list of voice-over work I have done in the last thirty-five years is literally endless, and the recording routine, despite the digital revolution of recent times, has remained pretty much the same. Clients can often be rather demanding, and I remember one very long afternoon where I spent many, many hours saying the word ‘Yes’ in literally hundreds of different ways until the over-demanding arsehole directing proceedings in the control room was happy.

Nowadays, I usually work in a small studio in a recently renovated and modernised part of Soho. (I can truthfully say that a lot of this modernisation fills me with sadness – Soho is not the place it was in my younger days. I’m with Prince Charles in his hatred not just of modern architecture, but of all modern things in general.) Although often lucrative, doing voice-overs is not always particularly satisfying or creatively rewarding work. I have little in common with the new breed of (mostly young and inexperienced) engineers who oversee the sessions, and, although in general I dislike generalisations, I think it is quite accurate to describe them as wankers. They are almost always very ‘trendy’ individuals who know little about the theatre or the arts and culture in general. (I discovered recently that one of them had never heard of Sob Perjury.78) In my experience, these buffoons seem to be more interested in casual drug taking or ‘DJ-ing at the weekend’ (whatever that is) than doing an honest day’s work. Two ‘guys’ who I deal with on a regular basis seem to me complete lay-abouts and, despite being men, dress like a couple of prostitutes that one might have come across in Berlin plying their wares to the occupying Allied troops at the end of World War II. (I call this ‘the dishevelled Grayson Perry look’.) One of these clowns has a particularly stupid ‘made-up’ name which I can’t believe he was given at birth. I would certainly add him to a roll call of clots with daft made-up names such as Gary Glitter, Mister Blobby and Ed Balls. As can be immediately deduced from that list, if you have a stupid name, chances are that you’re also a fucking idiot.

I’m afraid that I have to end this reflection on my otherwise hugely successful voice-over career on a somewhat sour note. Sadly, I am quite aware that after I leave the studio, some engineers readily and regularly mock my voice and mannerisms. I find this all very childish and juvenile. (And this is not just me being paranoid. In 2012, I had secret listening devices and miniature cameras installed in the studio by a private detective which ultimately proved that my suspicions were partly true.) Of course, my general attitude towards these twerps is one of pity. I genuinely feel sorry for them. They have no talent of their own, so feel the need to mock and denigrate genuinely talented people of excellence. In the words of Harold Wilson on his many enemies in the Labour Party: ‘Fuck them, fuck them, fuck them.’
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	1
	It’s harder to stand out on radio, because people can’t see you. Putting on a slight accent to distinguish yourself from the other players, even though it may be harmful to the overall production, can often be a good idea. 



	2
	In a live radio recording before an audience, make yourself more visible by standing on a box so that you are taller than the other actors. 



	3
	In a radio drama or comedy when other actors are speaking, it is still usually a good idea to make the most of your appearance by mumbling in agreement. 



	3a
	If your character is not usually in a agreement with the character who is speaking, try an occasional ‘That’s nonsense!’ or ‘Rubbish!’



	4
	When your name is read out by the announcer at the end of the performance, make sure you cheer extra loudly or give a loud ‘whoop’ of approval. It may not look in the studio, but the audience at home won’t know it’s you. 






76 This quote has sometimes been attributed to the former Business Secretary in the 2010–15 coalition government, Vince Cable. Although in general I dislike politicians, I met Cable at the launch of the 2011 BBC 1 autumn schedule and found him very agreeable. My brother Blair was also present, and we were soon joined by former Lib Dem leader Paddy ‘Pants Down’ Ashdown. Blair was surprised to find an ex-army man like Ashdown amongst the ‘poofs and women’ at a BBC launch, and I am pleased to report that they got on famously. Talk soon turned to disciplinary methods employed in the armed forces during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries – and flogging in particular. As you will remember, I had once been a bit of an expert on the subject. I pointed out that although five hundred lashes (the standard punishment at the time for an average misdemeanour) seems harsh to modern eyes, during the Napoleonic wars the maximum number that could be inflicted on soldiers in the British Army reached twelve hundred!!! This could easily kill a man, or at least put him in hospital for a couple of years. Imagine what it must feel like to inflict cruelty and barbarity of this magnitude on another person?!? It hardly bears thinking about. Flogging also became associated with a seaman’s manly disregard for pain. Some show-offs even offered to be flogged just to demonstrate how they weren’t that bothered by it. Aboard ships, knittles or the cat o’ nine tails was used for severe formal punishment, while a ‘Billy Rag’ or ‘shunter’ was used to administer informal, immediate discipline – rather like an on-the-spot parking fine today. It is scarcely believable, but sometimes a victim could be ‘flogged around the fleet’: a significant number of lashes – up to six hundred – was divided among the ships on a station and the person was taken to all the ships to be flogged on every one! Henry Rowlands, who had been caught masturbating into a captain’s mug of rum, spent from April 1802 to January 1809 being passed around every ship in the British Fleet and is believed to have received over a million lashes. Paradoxically, for this incredible feat the navy gave him a lifetime achievement award. Nowadays, whipping is largely consensual and can often form part of a loving relationship, especially amongst men. However, looking back on military history, one can only shudder when contemplating the appalling pain and misery inflicted by the practice. It is almost impossible to comprehend the ghastly suffering inflicted, and the terrible psychological damage done to the perpetrator.

77 The late Russell Harty raised the issue when I appeared on his chat show in the 1980s. Luckily for me, the singer Grace Jones, who was also a guest on the programme, interrupted as she felt Harty wasn’t paying her enough attention and proceeded to slap him around the face.

78 Sobotha ‘Sob’ Perjury. Heiress and water colourist; pioneer of holistic and herbal-based medicine utilising nettles and tea bags. Regularly lampooned for her ‘hippy-ish’ beliefs in Private Eye. Committed suicide by throwing herself under a motorcycle ridden by Barry Sheene at Silverstone in 1982.
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Harsh
Lessons . . .



I HAVE OFTEN been asked to give acting lessons, either in a formal venue (the Theatre Royal, Drury Lane) or an informal setting (a students’ squat in Streatham where everyone was high on crack cocaine). As a rule, I have usually politely declined. However, I was happy to go back to RADA on several occasions to chat to students about my career. As in this book, which I hope is both an entertaining memoir and an instructive guide to the joys and pitfalls of acting, I have usually found that the process of sharing one’s experiences, both good and bad, can be of huge and invaluable benefit to young would-be actors and actresses. In fact, a casual chat with me is probably much more beneficial than hundreds of lessons over several years in a professional acting school. However, it is rare for me to give one-on-one acting tutorials.

One exception, when I agreed to a private instruction, turned out to be a rather unique experience. In early 2013, I received an odd and unusual request from Jane. She informed me that she had been recently contacted by the Venezuelan embassy, who wished to pass a message on to me from the Wikileaks founder, Julian Assange. At that time (and still at the time of writing) Assange was a refugee from American justice hiding out in a corner of the attic in the embassy. This tiny space (six feet by two feet) had been set aside for him by the Venezuelan ambassador. Since seeking refuge in the consulate, Assange had been ‘bored out of his tits’ (Jane’s words) and wished to take up acting to pass the time. Would I be willing to give him a few lessons? With some reservations, I eventually agreed, and after a suitable fee had been agreed with supporters of Assange I made my way to the impressive building of the Venezuelan embassy in London’s Cromwell Road.
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Julian Assange: giving acting lessons to the renegade ‘Wikileaks’ founder was one of my most unusual career assignments!



It was at this point I was informed by an official that Assange was actually incarcerated at the Ecuadorian embassy in Knightsbridge (another unfortunate error on Jane’s part). I hopped into a taxi and after intense security procedures involving strip-searching and an intrusive, gratuitous and uncomfortable internal body check, I was ushered into Assange’s tiny living space. A friendly guard made me a tequila (I was delighted to see that the local refreshments took on an authentic South American flavour!), and after a wait of almost three hours Assange arrived in the room to greet me.

I have to say I was immediately very shocked by his appearance. He resembled nothing less than a Robinson Crusoe-like figure who had spent several years alone on a barren and isolated desert island. His hair was long and matted, an unkempt beard had grown almost to his midriff, and his face was a mass of sores, scratches and lesions. He was naked apart from a filthy loincloth, and during our meeting clung on to a rat which he called ‘Obama’. He gently stroked the animal throughout, and it became increasingly clear to me that he had befriended it at some stage during his incarceration. (At one point in my lesson I tried to prize the rat away from Assange and kill it, but he – Assange, not the rat – put up stubborn resistance, and I eventually relented.) I also noticed his left leg (heavily bruised) was shackled and attached to the wall by a long iron chain. The only lighting he was allowed in his dungeon-like dwelling was a single candle which flickered faintly before eventually becoming extinguished an hour before our encounter came to an end. Clearly the price he had paid for upholding free speech had been a great one.

I generally find giving acting lessons to anybody an exhausting and often intense experience, but to attempt the instruction under these circumstances genuinely tested my tutorial abilities. From the outset, Assange made it clear that he wasn’t interested in classical acting but wanted to do ‘the kind of thing’ he’d seen in EastEnders. (On Sundays he was allowed to watch the omnibus edition of the programme with the Ecuadorian ambassador, who was also a fan of the show.) TV acting, of course, is a very different beast from performing on stage, so it was important that I made Assange aware of various camera positions, close-up techniques, etc. (A slop bucket in the corner of the room was used to represent the camera; a ragged mop stood in for the ‘actress’ he was addressing.) It’s important, for instance, that when playing a scene with another actor, one always looks into the eye closest to camera and does not allow one’s gaze to ‘jump’ back and forth between the two eyes of your adversary. This is, of course, what one does very naturally in real life but looks weak and unnatural when one sees it on screen.

Assange initially embraced these techniques enthusiastically, but it was clear after twenty minutes or so that he did not have the physical or mental discipline to continue. In fact, at this stage, I was almost certain that he had died. However, on calling out for help, a guard soon arrived and the free-speech guru was successfully revived. This involved a lot of shouting and slapping Assange about the face from the guard. At the same time the Wikileaks founder was begging for water and had become quite delirious, asking for his mother and pleading innocence of sexual misconduct allegations made by the Swedish government.

It was another twenty minutes before we could move on to the Meisner technique. This is a style of acting closely related to the ‘Method’ (not a style I’m usually very fond of). It requires the actor to focus totally on the other actor as though he or she is real and they exist only in that moment. This makes the players in the scene seem more authentic to the audience. It is based on the principle that acting finds its expression in people’s response to other people and circumstances. I demonstrated this method to Assange for perhaps half an hour, before the candle finally spluttered out and I not unreasonably suggested that we wind up proceedings.

However, the poor wretch then suggested that I give him some tuition in radio acting, as that is not a visual medium and can be mastered in pitch darkness. If only it were so simple!79 Radio may be listened to in the dark (often with pleasurable results), but this does not mean that one can learn the techniques of radio acting in the dark. (Of course one can teach blind people to act with satisfactory results, but I am not experienced in this type of tuition.) I informed Assange that our acting class was now over and that I hoped he had enjoyed the experience. At that stage he literally begged me not to leave and fell dramatically to his knees, saying that apart from his rat ‘Obama’ I was his only friend in the world. He grabbed my leg, refusing to let go, and began crying until forcefully beaten off by the guard. It was a pitiful sight.

As I left the building by the back entrance, I could still hear his screams as I made my way towards my Tube stop. We are still in occasional email contact (though his missives have become increasingly rambling and hallucinatory), and I have promised to buy him a drink in the Colonial Club should he ever leave the confines of the embassy.
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I shall remember my encounter with Assange for other reasons as well. When I returned to my flat, I discovered, via an email from Jane, that my ex-wife Ellen had become engaged to another man: a crisp manufacturer from Devon called Stirling Porrich. I have not dwelt much amongst these pages on my marriage to Ellen. In fact, I have barely mentioned my ex-wife, except at one point earlier in my story when my first sighting of her (on television) was reported, along with a brief mention of our marriage on a beach in Thailand. The tsunami that subsequently engulfed the wedding party, as well as causing death and destruction on a grand scale, was also an ominous portent of my troubled relationship with Ellen. Blair, Jane and the history-TV-programme-presenting-father-and-son team of Dan and Peter Snow had all warned me that my new wife could be ‘trouble’. She certainly enjoyed life in the fast lane. And I mean that quite literally. Towards the end of her professional motorcycling career, she became heavily involved in the world of monster truck driving. This is a hazardous profession, and she told me once that she had broken every bone in her body at least once by driving these monster trucks around tracks at breakneck speed and crashing into things. In order to ‘unwind’ after propelling these huge vehicles around, she turned to sex, drugs and alcohol.


[image: images]

My ex-wife Ellen drives a monster truck at a meeting in Texas. Our very different lifestyles put a strain on our marriage.



Needless to say, several affairs followed, and, to my great embarrassment, the details of these were published in her autobiography.80 I put up with Ellen’s philandering and indiscreet liaisons for years, but eventually it became an impossible situation and divorce was the inevitable conclusion. And yet, rather inexplicably, I was, and remain, still very fond of Ellen. Her marriage to Porrich, a man who had overcome severe disability (he was in a permanent ‘locked-in’ state) to become one of Devon’s most successful crisp manufacturers, came as a severe blow. I’m not proud of the fact that when I found myself in a recording studio with Porrich a short while after doing a voice-over for his product whilst buried alive in an underground coffin, I gave him an almighty thrashing with a baseball bat.
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	1
	The relationship between teacher and pupil must be clear from the start. In the past I have used a simple device in a workshop situation to clarify the roles: different-coloured dungarees. 



	2
	After a tutorial, giving marks out of ten to a student’s performance is a good way to let him or her know how well he or she has done. I use a ‘0–10’ system (although I have never given a pupil anything over 2). 



	3
	If somebody is obviously a useless actor, then there’s no point in encouraging them. I would always tell them to give up. The inexplicable success of obvious ‘non-actors’ such as Ronan Keating, Vinnie Jones and Mark Rylance are exceptions that prove the rule.



	4
	Never ask for advice from an established theatrical figure. When he was a struggling actor, the playwright Alan Ayckbourn was in a play written by Pinter. When Ayckbourn asked Pinter for a few pointers for his character, the legendary writer/director responded sharply with: ‘None of your fucking business.’



	5
	After ten lessons, it is customary to present your lecturer with a gift: a cigarette case used to be fashionable in earlier years. I belive iTunes gift vouchers are now more popular. 






79 See separate chapter on radio acting and voice-over work.

80 The list contained at least two Canadian Prime Ministers.
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Dark Days
Ahead . . .



ONE OF THE problems we’ve had in British television over the last number of years is the appalling ‘dumbing down’81 of programmes. One doesn’t mind this trend so much in panel games, entertainment shows, talent contests, sitcoms, news bulletins, soaps and dramas: by their very nature these programmes are going to be complete and utter shit. However, I think when this process is applied to documentaries and nature programmes one must immediately call ‘Halt!’

Some time ago I had a quasi-romantic relationship with an academic from a well-known university who presented a history series on BBC 4. (As she may recognise herself here if she happens to read this, I shall use the name ‘Elsie’ for the purposes of this story.) She had been an old girlfriend of my flatmate Ed, and when he showed me a picture of a lady who resembled the extremely attractive American actress Gayle Hunnicutt, I said that I would be interested in meeting her. However, it turned out later that Ed had wildly misled me: Elsie was twenty years older than I had been informed, and the photograph I had been shown was of the actress Gayle Hunnicutt.

I’m afraid the first time I met Elsie I was rather the worse for wear after a party to announce the new drama season on Radio 4. Insensible with drink, I found myself some hours later back in her lair at Earl’s Court. She hadn’t known the pleasures of lovemaking since her ‘sordid’ (her description) affair with Ed – they had both been married at the time to different partners – some twenty-five years before, so she was rather desperate for a ‘good shag’ (again, her words). I was too pissed to resist and found myself rather lumbered with her for the next few years.82

Elsie was a rather frumpy, matronly type who was pleasant enough company for a Sunday lunch-time, but it was often a struggle to maintain an erection when we relocated to the bedroom. She dressed in Margaret Rutherford-like grey skirts and cardigans and refused to wear make-up because of something to do with experiments on dogs. (She owned sixteen basset hounds.) I can see in hindsight that we were very ill matched. I was usually embarrassed to be seen out with her, and the relationship, which I considered an ‘open one’,83 only lasted six or seven years.

One of the very few pleasures of being in Elsie’s company was that she would often regale me with hair-raising tales about the lengths to which TV producers were prepared to go to dumb down their programmes to attract viewers. To be honest, I was astonished that the BBC had selected her as a presenter, as she wasn’t at all in the same league as more obviously attractive and ‘erotically charged’ presenters such as Bettany Hughes or the lady who does shows about how easy it was to get poisoned in a Victorian home. She was completely unsuited for TV for many reasons: she stammered, was terrified to look directly into the camera, couldn’t pronounce her ‘r’s, was unable to walk out of shot without appearing extremely self-conscious, struggled to memorise her script or read from an autocue, always appeared to be on the point of fainting from sheer terror, and no amount of make-up could hide her obvious moustache. (Oh dear! I’m beginning to feel a little politically incorrect just writing this!)

Every now and then a disgruntled female newsreader emerges to reveal in her memoirs that the corporation had unceremoniously put her out to grass when she reached the age of forty-five. The Beeb then feels obliged to stick a few elderly spinsters on one of their channels for appearances’ sake. Elsie’s appointment was as one of these ladies. She was reluctantly wheeled out into the spotlight like a timid baby vole emerging uncertainly for the first time from an underground lair.

Elsie’s producer’s name was Rod D’Arby, and he was exactly how one expects a BBC producer to be: a disingenuous, two-faced, slimy, dishonest, lying prick. D’Arby was a walking cliché: Oxbridge educated, former trainee producer on the Today programme, second house in Sussex, a confirmed and unrepentant leftie given to making jokes about Nigel Farage and UKIP, and a vocal campaigner against female harassment in the workplace. (He was also, of course, married to a presenter of Woman’s Hour.) Blair describes these types well: ‘A bozo who cuts Nigel Slater recipes out of The Observer84 and collects them in a fucking folder.’ Regarding Elsie, it was an undertaking of D-Day proportions to turn this Susan Boyle into a Kate Humble, but D’Arby was handed the mammoth task. The ideal job for a television producer is Top Gear or rubbish like that, so being shoved off to do a history programme on medieval England with a dowdy academic is regarded as the BBC equivalent of peeling potatoes in the navy. As D’Arby’s previous job had been on the high profile Who Do You Think You Are?, it was a definite demotion, and I subsequently discovered that he had been caught snorting cocaine in the BBC canteen when Princess Anne made a royal visit to TV Centre, so the gig with Elsie was certainly a punishment.

The very first day he met Elsie, she told me that he set out his intentions in certain terms: ‘No one will watch a documentary unless we do lots of fast cutting and stick music all over it – I don’t want to go ten seconds without hearing music. You have to talk as fast as you can, smile, wave your hands around wildly so that it looks like you’re guiding aircraft on to a runway, and always walk out of shot at the end of a scene so that you give the impression you’re on your way to somewhere else and are impossibly excited to be going there.’

This was like telling the Queen Mother she had been selected to be the new drummer in a speed metal band. It was all too much for the unfortunate Elsie, and when we watched the resulting programme together, her obvious discomfort and incompetence on screen was embarrassing. I’m afraid, as a professional myself, who takes great pride in my ability to ‘hold’ and entertain an audience, I was ruthless and unscathing in my criticism. This, somewhat predictably, put her into a very sour mood indeed and she withdrew sexual favours for a time. But it undoubtedly was, it has to be said, an utterly woeful performance, and nothing would have been gained by ‘soft-soaping’ her. In partial mitigation, the dialogue she was forced to read was not written by her, but a BBC in-house scriptwriter whose prose style was much more suited to EastEnders or New Tricks. I have noticed that every presenter of a history programme on television has to start off by saying that they have ‘always been fascinated’ by the subject they are going to explore, and how they are embarking on ‘an exciting journey’. (The most exciting journey in Elsie’s life at that time had been a twice-weekly visit to the village chemist to get tablets for her varicose veins.) She couldn’t whip up enthusiasm for anything at all, and her energy levels during the programme resembled those of an arthritic drunk.

The only iota of comfort she could draw from the whole experience was that the viewing figures were derisory, so almost nobody witnessed the shambles.85 In a final act of complete lack of faith in the project by the BBC, episodes five and six of the series were moved to the graveyard slot after midnight with fucking sign language on it.
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When somebody is old enough, as I am, to remember truly great programmes like The World at War, The Forsyte Saga, Jonathan Miller’s marvellous version of Alice in Wonderland, and the BBC’s wonderful coverage of the Grand National, it is really heart-breaking to see them replaced by shows like Fuck You, I’m Ginger86, Strictly Come Dancing and Shit Storm. It is a truly dark passage that the BBC has entered and seemingly is unable to find a way out of. Superb broadcasters such as Robin Day, Richard Dimbleby, Kenneth Clark and Barry Norman have been replaced by arseholes such as Russell Brand (until he got sacked), Dan Snow, Jeremy Clarkson (until he got sacked) and Vanessa Feltz. Is this a move in the right direction? I think not. The BBC has some serious decisions to make over the next few years, and the role of funding will be crucial.
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The new BBC building at Salford Quays in Manchester. A staggering 98% of the BBC licence fee goes to paying the salaries of just three of its stars.



In a digital age, should our national public broadcaster still be propped up by money raised from a compulsory licence fee? Only an idiot or someone who has lived on Mars for the last twenty years would say that the licence fee gives real value for money. (Injecting heroin into your eyeball would be a lot more fun and would cost a lot less.) Making the licence fee compulsory is, and always has been, in my view, a grave mistake. It breeds complacency, arrogance and a ‘fuck you’ mentality which permeates the BBC at every level. A staggering 98 per cent of this licence fee goes to paying the salaries of just three of its ‘stars’,87 and this just does not seem right to me. In 2014, the new BBC offices at Salford spent two billion pounds on ‘ethnic-friendly’ staples. Is this a good use of public money? Absolutely not. So what should we have instead? I suggest a voluntary licence fee of twenty thousand pounds per annum. When I have floated this idea before to some broadcasters I know they have expressed cynicism. Of course not everybody is voluntarily going to pay twenty thousand pounds when they can receive the exact same service for nothing. But some people might. And it also might . . . just might . . . improve the quality of the programmes themselves. Isn’t it a risk worth taking? The alternative is to be bombarded every night of our lives with shit television programmes.
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While not the complete disaster television has become, theatre has also had its problems in the early years of this century. Kevin Spacey’s tenure at the Old Vic gained many plaudits and much acclaim from both critics and pundits, but in my opinion he achieved very little indeed. Likewise, Mark Rylance’s time as Artistic Director at the Globe was notable for many reasons, and he received several awards for reviving the fortunes of this mecca of Shakespearean theatre. But when one strips away all the gloss and looks beyond the hype, it’s hard to see his tenure there as anything other than a complete disaster. In my view, by the time Rylance left the Globe, even fewer people were interested in Shakespeare than when he arrived there. I realise we’re talking about something along the lines of forty people becoming twenty-five people, but my point still holds. Rylance would have put fifteen people, or about forty per cent of people in this country who are interested in Shakespeare, OFF Shakespeare! Is that something to be proud of?
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Kevin Spacey on stage at the Old Vic in Fiddler On The Roof. His tenure at the theatre gained much plaudits and acclaim from both critics and pundits, but in my opinion he achieved very little indeed.



It’s also interesting that Rylance then chose to go down the disastrous route of popular TV drama for his next venture. Again, the critics and public loved his portrayal of the schemer and fixer Thomas Cromwell in the musical version of Hilary Mantel’s Bring Down88 the Bodies on BBC 1. But people in the industry could see at once that it was a very poor performance indeed, lacking any kind of subtlety, wit or invention. Cromwell, for anybody who had read the book, is rather a serious and intimidating figure, yet Rylance played it for laughs all the way through. The warning signs were there when I realised the programme was to be broad-cast on BBC 1,89 the station of Match of the Day, Crimewatch and the increasingly ludicrous Strictly Come Dancing.

Right, I thought, this is going to be complete rubbish. I wasn’t wrong. As well as generally poor performances from the entire cast, the set was overdressed, the photography was under-whelming and the dialogue was inauthentic, unbelievable and far too ‘modern’. If one was to hear a sound-only version, it would be hard to place the piece in the sixteenth century. This adaptation could be easily mistaken for EastEnders or The Only Way Is Essex.

As I have said, the cast were universally bad, but if I were to pick one particularly dreadful performance (apart from Rylance’s) it would be Anton Lesser as Thomas Moore. I shall declare a personal interest here, as I had auditioned for Moore and was more or less promised the role before the BBC reneged on their guarantee when Lesser suddenly became available.90

Yes, of course I am aware that people will just see this as ‘sour grapes’ on my part because I didn’t get to appear in the show, but it’s hard to argue with the fact that the programme – and the performances of Rylance and Lesser stand out as being particularly execrable – was a complete embarrassment from beginning to end. When I eventually saw it, I actually felt that I had had a lucky escape by not being involved. What a piece of shit.
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Theatre, like television, faces a funding crisis. As in the case of the NHS, it has been the victim of cutbacks, a lack of investment, and indifference and hostility both from successive governments and audiences. I met a former arts minister91 at the launch of the BBC 4 autumn schedule recently, and he told me in no uncertain terms that he ‘absolutely loathed theatre, and the arts in general’. This from an arts minister! My goodness, if that’s what somebody appointed to take charge of cultural life in this country believes, we can only guess at what the general public think of it!

As with my suggestion for replacing the BBC licence fee with large voluntary contributions, I also have a plan for a radical overhaul of theatre in the country. Here it is – and it’s certainly guaranteed to ruffle a few feathers: suppose we got rid of the NHS and gave all that funding to the theatre? For every hospital demolished, we could build two or three medium-sized theatres. It is a well-established fact – which we hear from health professionals all the time – that sport and an interest in the arts – goes a long way to preventing people becoming ill. I, for one, would rather spend an evening in the theatre watching a play than six months in a hospital recovering from a gall bladder operation.92

We hear a lot these days about ‘rehabilitation centres’ – places where people go to recover and rebuild their lives after receiving terrible injuries. But do these centres actually do any good? Where is the proof that spending several months, or even years, in these places is anything other than a complete waste of time? After all, many people recover completely without any medical attention. Would it not be better to knock down these ‘white elephants’ and build theatre spaces where drama workshops and lectures could take place? These wouldn’t even have to be proper buildings; they could be tents or temporary huts. Some of them could be even made from eco-friendly materials such as cardboard. Another advantage is that theatres, unlike hospitals, do not require vast amounts of storage space where medicines and bandages and syringes are kept. Theatres are also much safer than hospitals. One can’t escape the fact that if one is performing in, or passively watching, a Noël Coward comedy, for instance, the risk of an accident that could cause a long-term debilitating injury is very low. (Meanwhile, thousands of people every year die horrible and humiliating deaths in hospitals.) Also, since the smoking ban, the chances of developing cancer or lung disease on a night out in the West End has become negligible.

I’m not naive enough to believe that if we replace hospitals with theatres, and health care professionals with actors, directors and set designers, then all the problems surrounding care of the sick and elderly in this country will be solved. But I am absolutely certain that by embarking on such an adventurous plan, we can both secure the future of theatre and improve the mental and physical health of future generations.93
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	1
	Sadly, the dumbing down of TV is now a fact. If you really want a job in television, you’ll have to slum it with everybody else in the shark pool. So, rule number one is: leave your self-respect at the door!



	2
	Study any news, programmes on television. The ‘comedy stand-up style’ is very much in vogue at the moment. If you fancy a news reporter job, practise in front of the mirror waving your hands wildly, making sure they’re in shot at all times. And speak VERY, VERY FAST in a consistently sardonic tone.



	3
	Never speak in a sentence with more than six words in it. 



	4
	If you are fortunate enough to win an award, throw a few swear words into your acceptance speech – and make sure the audience know that you can’t wait to finish the speech because you are ‘dying for a wee’. 



	5
	Avoid going advice in short, snappy soundbites or as part of any kind of short list.






81 This ‘dumbing down’ is also reflected in society as a whole. After I read an initial proof of this book, which had been subedited by somebody at my publishers, I noticed a footnote on Shakespeare in the chapter about my experiences as student in RADA. This footnote said simply ‘seventeenth-century playwright’.

82 I would have broken it off earlier, but she found out a detail of my private life and threatened to go to the press with it. It was one of several relationships I’ve found myself ‘trapped’ in under threats of blackmail.

83 She didn’t.

84 Blair dislikes The Observer intensely but occasionally buys it during the Six Nations series because he believes it has the best rugby union coverage.

85 Although, with characteristic cruelty, D’Arby had forced her to join up with Twitter beforehand so she could ‘promote’ the programme. There could not have been a less likely member of the ‘Twitterati’; I simply could not imagine Elsie promoting anything at all using ‘social media’. It was about as unlikely a scenario as the Duke of Wellington ‘tweeting’ updates from the field of Waterloo. Of course she couldn’t master the technology, so was unable to post anything on her account. Unfortunately, but all too predictably, after the show went out she was the victim of quite extraordinary misogynist abuse from ‘Twittersphere’ wankers on account of her unconventional looks and abysmal performance on air.

86 One programme – Fuck You, I’m Ginger – not two programmes, Fuck You and I’m Ginger.

87 BBC News financial guru Robert Peston, football pundit Robbie Savage and Jeremy Vine.

88 EDITOR’S NOTE: Up.

89 EDITOR’S NOTE: It was actually broadcast on BBC 2.

90 No surprises there – see Chapter 1.

91 I discovered that this man also shared my interest in the history of flagellation. Like me, over the years he had acquired many books on the subject. I have perhaps six or seven hundred flogging-related works in my library, and the subject still intrigues and enthrals me – as well as raising a number of questions. How can anybody inflict such pain on another human being? Why the need for such extreme and often senseless and excessive cruelty? What goes through the mind of someone as they administer multiple lashes to a fellow human being? I have often imagined what it must have been like to be in the position of a man about to deal out a monumental thrashing. I picture myself as I prepare for the grim task, whip in hand. I see before me the poor condemned miscreant, helpless, on his knees, sometimes defiant, more usually supine, awaiting justice. I throw back my right arm then thrust the whip forward and flog the fellow with as much force as I can muster! One lash! Two lashes!! One hundred lashes!!! By the time I have administered two hundred strokes, the man is reduced to an animal-like state. He begs for mercy, screams in agony and blubbers incoherently – but I tell him no! The law has decreed that he receive five hundred lashes, and I cannot stop until I reach that number! I do not hold back with the whip but actually increase the ferocity of my blows! I pick up the pace smartly, until his naked torso resembles nothing less than a vile patchwork of blood, sinew, exposed muscle and bone. He looks like a fucking wreck. Eventually, he slumps unconsciously to the deck. But I still do not relent! I whip his lifeless form until the five hundred lashes have been administered . . . Only then do I cease. Although I now feel a very real sense of exhilaration and achievement, I am also utterly exhausted from my exertions. I have barely enough energy to fill out and sign the form confirming that I have carried out the punishment (a process similar to a golfer signing his scorecard after completing a round of eighteen holes). What would it have been like to go home to the wife and kids after spending your day whipping somebody senseless – often seeing them die in front of you? It must have been extremely hard to ‘chill out’ after doing a job like that every day. The mundanity of the fireside and the thankless chore of having to read bedtime stories to children must have been a massive ‘come down’. The psychological pressure these men were under must have been tremendous. Counselling at the time – I am referring here to the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries – must have been minimal, and drugs like Prozac were still years in the future. Many marriages must have broken up under the terrible strain. One can only admire these amazing individuals for coming through it all.

92 With the exception of some plays that I’d rather not name!

93 I’m not a ‘political animal’ and take everything a politician of every party says with a grain of salt. In fact, I have never voted in my life and could never, ever envision a situation where I would be tempted to the ballot box. But even though politics bores me and I think all politicians are self-serving arseholes, I couldn’t help noticing that before the 2015 General Election there was consensus amongst all the leading parties (and Labour and the Liberal Democrats) that the days of the NHS were definitely numbered. Everybody agreed that the country couldn’t afford a decent health service any more. This problem is further complicated by the fact that so many people pretend to be ill when there is clearly nothing wrong with them. David Cameron has pointed out that we still have the private sector to cater for the non-malingerers – for people with something genuinely wrong with them. This seemed to go down very well with voters and went a long way towards helping him win the election.
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It’s Been Quite A
Journey . . .



AS THIS BOOK is chiefly about my professional experiences, I have supplied only glimpses of my personal life. However, very often one’s professional life and one’s personal life interact, and sometimes the distinction between the two becomes blurred. I do not believe that it is possible to totally separate one from the other. Thus, I think it is now time to ‘fill in a few gaps’ and inform the reader of some personal circumstances which inevitably have had an impact on my career.

Regarding my family: my father immediately left home after I expressed my desire to become an actor. After a brief period in the Congo, he re-emerged during the trial of Jeremy Thorpe for conspiracy for murder.94 He had been suspected, though never charged, of attempting to procure a shotgun from Blair, who kept a vast, illegal arsenal in his barracks at the time. Father then emigrated to Cyprus, where he opened a wine bar and became a popular host to various visiting celebrities. He returned home to England when he inherited a castle from an uncle in the early 1980s. Except for a brief email asking for a contact number for the producer of Come Dine With Me and a dramatic deathbed reunion involving Blair and a well-known Hollywood actor who had become a close personal friend of mine, I never heard from him again.

Blair had a long and distinguished career in the military. After many postings overseas, he achieved the rank of Major-General and saw action in the Falklands War in 1982. Adding to the two tramps he’d killed as a child, he ‘took out’ an Argentinian machine-gun post during the final assault on Port Stanley (beheading one ‘Argie’ in the process). For this action he received a military cross. Although our lives drifted apart somewhat as we followed very different careers, we have become close in recent years. He will usually join me for a drink or two at the Colonial if he is in London, where he usually stays in a flat owned by his close friend Paddy Ashdown.

My mother, sadly, is also no longer with us. She passed away after a long illness in 2004. Her plans for sex-reassignment surgery, which I found rather startling when she revealed them to me during my final term at school, eventually came to nothing much. As I have already said earlier, she underwent some minor genital rejigging, but it didn’t add up to a whole hill o’beans. I used to see her scratching away down there, as the botched attempt led to ongoing irritation. A very poignant incident happened once when she was staying in my flat after breaking both her arms while on a skiing holiday with Princess Margaret’s ex-lover Roddy Llewellyn and the art critic Andrew Graham-Dixon. For a short period, I had to assist her when she needed to use the toilet, and I got a most unwelcome view of the debris still left over from the operation twenty years before. I think this intimate moment, rather than bringing us closer together, put a further strain on the already somewhat uneasy relationship between mother and son. However, despite the many setbacks in her life, she carried on bravely. In her latter years, people often remarked on her strong physical similarity to the Turner Prize-winning artist Grayson Perry.

She saw out her unsatisfactory final days in Brighton, and I occasionally visited her there, always stopping on my way to go to the off-licence near her home, where I bought her a regular bottle of gin.95
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Port Stanley, capital of the Falkland Islands. During the invasion of the islands in 1982, my brother Blair ‘took out’ an enemy machine-gun post, beheading one ‘Argie’ in the process.



She was a close friend of the painter Lucian Freud, and his naked painting of her, generally believed to be among his worst, was sold for three million pounds at Sotheby’s in 1998.
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My own career continued (and continues) to go from strength to strength. Despite still being stuck with Jane,96 I am still lucky enough to be a very much ‘in demand’ actor right at the top of my profession.

Discussing my ongoing success with a group of fellow actors in the Colonial after another triumphant appearance on the West End stage, I noticed that a familiar figure was standing chatting to the former Formula One racing driver Nigel Mansell97 at the bar. It was none other than my old BBC nemesis Mews Frumpty. After my previous disastrous encounters with this bastard, I did my best to ignore him, but to my great discomfort we found ourselves at the washbasins in the Gents shortly afterwards. With typical bravado and insensitivity, and as if completely unaware of the ‘history’ between us, he started chatting away as if we were the very best of friends. He told me that he had left the BBC some months before, after the ‘clear out’ of sex pests who had been employed at the Corporation during the 1950s, 1960s, 1970s, 1980s, 1990s and early 2000s. He had now joined a publishing company as head of their biography section and was keen to get a ‘big name’ on board. He said the first name which came into his head was ‘Steven Toast’. Would I be interested in writing an autobiography, or perhaps an autobiography which featured acting tips learned over my long career in the business? I told him that, while flattered, I was a little wary about embarking on a project like this, especially as he had royally fucked me over on several previous occasions. Nevertheless, I agreed to meet him for lunch the following day in Soho.
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Andrew Graham-Dixon.



True to form, he turned up an hour late then ordered the biggest and most expensive bottle of champagne on the menu.98 He said that the first few months in the publishing company had not gone well for him. He had commissioned autobiographies from politicians Ed Balls, Danny Alexander, Simon Hughes, Vince Cable and several other high-profile Labour and Lib Dem politicians – all of whom had then lost their seats in the General Election and were now regarded as ‘yesterday’s men’. He informed me gravely that unless he ‘hooked a big fish’ soon, he could be out on his ear. He said that he had talked to the head of the company, and, although he couldn’t promise anything just at that moment, he was confident that if I signed up he could get me a fee of several million pounds. Could he be serious, I wondered. It was certainly an impressive amount for a first-time author.99

I had other concerns: when I told him I really felt that it was a very personal story, and that I would not wish to collaborate with a ghostwriter, he said that he couldn’t agree more. I should write the book myself. There would be absolutely no editorial interference. As a further inducement, he was sure that film rights could be sold for another million or two, and he would insist that I could direct the movie myself (if I wanted to) and have full control over editing, budget (which would be ‘practically limitless’), marketing and promotion. I could either play myself in this big-budget biopic, or if I chose to cast someone else in the role, such as Brad Pitt or George Clooney, then that would be fine.

It was certainly a tempting offer, but again I couldn’t forget that every other project I had been involved in with Frumpty had gone seriously ‘tits up’. I thanked him for the meal100 and said that I would discuss the offer with my agent. After my previous experiences, I was keen to ensure that various safe-guards were in place.

Jane reckoned that the offer was a ‘great’ one. I would be mad not to accept. (She was no doubt thinking of her slice of the pie if Frumpty could deliver his side of the bargain.) I weighed up the pros and cons, and, after much soul searching and discussions with friends and family, I decided to sign on the dotted line.

But once I informed him of my decision, and literally seconds after I had put my name to the contract, Frumpty’s attitude changed. He said that he would immediately recommend bringing in a ghostwriter. He told me that as a personality I was ‘dour, charmless and bitter’. To write a book where these elements would emerge would be a disaster. A ghostwriter (somewhat to my surprise, he suggested himself) would lighten the mood considerably. Also, as ‘the de facto author’, he thought he should receive 80 per cent of the fee.101 I immediately protested, but he then showed me a clause in my contract (signed on my behalf by Jane – probably when she was tired or drunk) which agreed to this. He also told me that any idea of a film spin-off was a ‘pipe dream’ and that nobody in the film business could possibly be interested in any kind of adaptation. Furthermore, he had inserted a clause, also approved by Jane when she was either tired or drunk, that I was absolutely forbidden to read the book before publication. It seemed that Frumpty had ‘trumped me’ once again.
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So here it is, my part autobiography/part tips for actors, which I will not see until you, dear reader, get to see it too.102 I would like to thank Mews Frumpty for doing a pretty terrific job. Before signing up he said that any autobiography by me was a ‘dead cert’ to win top literary prizes such as the Booker, the Samuel Johnson and the Pulitzer. Is it really that good?

We shall have to wait and see . . .
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	1
	Be true to yourself. On my appearance on Desert Island Discs in l981, I selected ‘My Way’ as one of my favourite choices. Want to know all about Steven Toast? Just read (or sing) the words of ‘My Way’. 



	2
	Consume as many books as you can about acting or actors’ experiences. A combination of both – an actor’s experience in autobiographical form along with tips for budding actors – would be essential. 



	3
	Get: a good agent, not some has-been, spaced-out relic from the 1960s with a drink and drug dependency and an aura of failure and despair hanging around her.



	4
	Stay away from the BBC – especially charlatans like Mews Frumpty. 



	5
	Quite simply: BE GOOD AT ACTING!






94His name also entered the public domain on an earlier occasion when he was exposed by the News of the World as having had sex with the winning contestant after judging a high-profile beauty pageant in 1972.

95Silly me! She was an alcoholic who both loved, and was allergic to, gin. Doctors told me afterwards that this fatal addiction probably shortened her life by several years.

96I’m sure you’ve heard enough about her at this stage! She really is completely useless.

97Not sure what he was doing there. A strict ‘no racing drivers’ rule is firmly in place at the club.

98Subsequently, I later learned, charged to Jane at the agency.

99I had once written a novel based on the story of Henry Vlll and his six wives, but just as the book was due to go into print, my publisher spontaneously combusted and the project was abandoned.

100Also subsequently charged to Jane.

101Which turned out to be £1,500.

102Thankfully, as a result of a court injunction, I was able to rewrite some passages before this book went to publication.
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Evening Standard, August 1976

The Hairdresser (Aldwich Theatre)

Mack Darby is a frustrated northern hairdresser with dreams of being the next big thing. It’s a role that is ripe with possibilities – but not if Steven Toast is playing him . . .

Most people who attend a play usually go equipped with varying degrees of knowledge of the subject matter, or at least a rough idea as to the theme of the evening’s entertainment. Luckily, I had read the novel by Sally Joint on which Whelk Ashby’s new play The Hairdresser is based before I travelled to the Aldwich – on what proved to be one of the hottest nights of the year. It was a good job I was familiar with the story – otherwise I would have placed Toast’s ‘northern’ accent in Russia . . . or possibly even South Africa? His poor attempt at a Yorkshire ‘burr’ would have confused the Duke of Edinburgh (attending with his daughter, the Princess Royal), who, I’m guessing, has never actually heard a genuine accent from ‘oop north’.

The play is a four-hander, with Steven Toast, unfortunately, very much at the centre of events. This performance was also a first for me: I had never before actually prayed that a fifth member of the cast, or understudy, would appear and take over from the lead actor in the second half, rather like a substitute appearance in a football match. If that had been the case, I’d bet that not one member of the audience would have complained or asked for his two guineas back. (In fact, the queue for refunds after the show seemed to be about half a mile long.) Please! Could somebody – anybody! – step forward and wipe the memory of Steven Toast’s portrayal of Manchester’s hapless hairdresser Mack Darby from our minds!

– Maggi Gale

Author’s Response: I include this – on the face of it a rather harsh review – on the basis that it is an example of a critic’s hidden agenda clouding his or her judgment. Maggi Gale was from Rochdale but hid the fact from her employers at the London-based Evening Standard. She also changed her accent, sported a grotesque amount of eyeliner and wore trendy clothes to try to fit in with her new colleagues in the capital. However, as she confessed to Ed Howzer-Black some years later, in fact she thought my accent was ‘spot-on’. My gritty and totally authentic portrayal of a Mancunian hairdresser (a type she would have been very familiar with) was obviously something that reminded her of her northern roots (as in both ‘origin’ and ‘hair’), and she clearly didn’t like that one little bit. What a bitter and grossly unfair review.

[image: images]

Evening Standard, June 1978

The Hour of the Gorgon (Ambassadors Theatre)

A promising idea fails to ignite on a hot night at the Ambassadors

David Hamet’s modern take on a Greek Tragedy had the potential to be quite extraordinary. (It really did! Please read on!) The prospect looked very promising indeed . . . Philip Cool’s lavish production boasts a dependable and reliable, if not spectacular, cast, with no big names to excite an audience more geared towards pop culture. (Leo Sayer’s appearance in The Caretaker at the Nottingham Playhouse last year springs to mind. Remember – this is theatre for the 1970s!) I’m sure the basic premise of this piece is familiar to my regular readers, so I won’t waste time with a ‘classics class’. Kit Blackcheek (Rex), who I’ve admired for some time, appeared early on and, with immediate effect, took control of the space. South African-born newcomer Jakki Kaq (Adonia) equalled Blackcheek’s presence and between them the stage was quite literally set. Act 1 was a fully immersive experience. (I almost forgot the cloying heat and humidity inside the building – I had come to the theatre on what felt like the hottest night of the year.) Everything will be fine, I thought, as Act 2 beck oned – I’m in good hands. I was thoroughly enjoying a good-quality, modern Greek tragedy. What could go wrong? Two words . . . Steven Toast, that’s what/who.

I have, since leaving the theatre that evening, made enquires as to the health of Toast (Klass), as I can only put his performance on the night in question down to either sickness or possibly delayed shock resulting from a mild concussion. I have, as of yet, received no communication from the theatre. I am therefore still assuming one of the above to be the cause of what was possibly the most bizarre performance I have ever experienced in twenty-five years of attending the theatre. I don’t wish to go into any more detail regarding Mr Toast’s performance, as the play is still running (until November 1978), so I urge you – if you dare – to go yourselves and witness something which is, as I have indicated here, quite extraordinary.

– Howard Tissue

Author’s Response:  A classic example of a critic not doing his research. Of course Tissue (or ‘Tissue of Lies’ as he was known amongst the acting community) didn’t write to the theatre to find out if there was anything wrong with me on the night. If he had, he would have actually learned that I had been suffering from mild concussion. Very unluckily, a spotlight had fallen and hit me just before my entrance. I was quite badly hurt: my eye socket had been dislocated and my right ear all but sliced off. However, despite protestations from Philip Cool, who wished to bring in an understudy, I insisted on going on. It was a show I really believed in, and, as Tissue admits in his review, the cast was superb. However, I was not at my best, and the show suffered as a result. I bumped into furniture and forgot my lines: the two things that an actor absolutely dreads happening when he’s on stage. However, that doesn’t excuse such a shoddy and unprofessional review. Tissue died of alcoholism a few years ago, and, apart from William Roache (Ken Barlow in Coronation Street), there were no actors at his funeral.

[image: images]

Scarborough Evening Echo, January 1987

The River Bank (Scarborough Theatre)

Achebourne’s much-loved classic returns home

Albert Achebourne’s The River Bank returns for the third time to the theatre where it first premiered in 1966. Director Peter Swaph updates the piece with mobile phones and the odd mention of emails but that doesn’t detract from what has become a much-loved modern classic. Mark Hamel shines as the ill-tempered tug-boat captain, with a great supporting cast in the form of Jill Quear and Rob Bonnet103 as long-suffering husband and wife Caspar and Bernice. Perry Bluehouse from Hi-de-Hi fame turns in a creepy Paul, while Steven Toast is on hand playing Richard.

– Alistair Ross

Author’s Response: The only reason I’ve included this unremarkable review here is for sheer curiosity value. There were hardly any mobile phones around in 1987 and certainly no such thing as ‘emails’. Was Alistair Ross some kind of clairvoyant? (Or was he even there? I remember that performance as it took place on the hottest day of the year – odd that he doesn’t mention it.) Ross is not around to answer these queries – he died in a ballooning accident in 2008. (He didn’t see that coming!!)
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Richmond Gazette, July 2009

Lovejoy (Richmond Theatre)

TV spin-off spins out of control

Richmond Theatre appears to be a lot less discerning in its production choices since actor/manager Michael Ball departed to make way for Radio 5’s Richard Bacon. Lovejoy? As in the ’80s TV series? Yes, I’m afraid so. Oh – it might be fun to see Ian McShane reprise his old TV role again, you may be thinking. Well, think on, because he ain’t even in it. Lovejoy is played by that bloke off the telly ‘you can’t place but know the face’, actor Stephen Toasts. The play wasn’t even written by the original TV writers but scripted by someone called Lee Bacon (ummm, that’s what I thought too . . .) Anyway, the play is set in Lovejoy’s workshop, where ‘our hero’ decides to undertake a spring clean. All seems relatively familiar early on with Lovejoy addressing the audience like he did on TV about the amount of memories and mess he has collected in his workshop over the years. One by one he unloads old wooden boxes on to an onstage fire – which didn’t seem like a great idea in a theatre with no air conditioning on what felt like the hottest day of the year. (And whatever happened to Health & Safety?!?) By this point I was dying for another actor to enter and stop this ‘Richmond Lovejoy’ chatting to us any further. (I was also hoping he would throw himself on the fire). But then on comes Dudley Sutton from the original TV show. Apparently one of these boxes contained a Gainsborough belonging to Lovejoy’s landlord, who is furious, and is on his way over. It was a fake. There you go. I’ve saved you the bother. Dreadful.

– Connie Shake

Author’s Response: Another astonishingly lazy review. She can’t even get my name right (‘Stephen Toasts’ as opposed to Steven Toast). Fucking idiot. Shake obviously had no interest in seeing the play, and her lack of enthusiasm is evident throughout. I haven’t heard anything about her in the years since this review was published, so I’m guessing she was on work experience or something. Her piece was shameful, lazy, arrogant, pretentious and just full of shit. In one word – ‘Dreadful’(!!!).
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Richmond Gazette, June 2006

The Midnight Gypsy (Richmond Theatre)

Gypsy romp a vulgar display of ineptitude and racism

The Midnight Gypsy at the Richmond Theatre was, despite its ridiculous title, not half bad. When I say not half bad, I literally mean, not half bad. The first half consisted largely of dances and set-ups. The wedding and main dance, just before the interval, were superb and it’s a genuine delight to see West End-level choreography being employed in an out-of-town theatre. Then the second half happened . . . This saw the entrance of the villain of the piece, and a rival love interest, in the persona of Stephen Toast [sic] as Lorca, a gypsy who had promised to return at midnight on his lost love’s wedding night etc . . . Who cares: the play went from being a pleasant and gentle musical affair to a vulgar grubby display with our lead bad guy believing he was either in a spaghetti western or The Prisoner of Zenda. The turban was a huge mistake and the accent was offensive. This is the only review I have ever written where I would sincerely urge the audience to leave after the interval.

– Cliff Bonanza

Author’s Response: No allowances were made for the fact that I had been diagnosed as having a serious (and potentially fatal) illness, Ferry Ferry Disease, just a few days before the play opened. Luckily, this was a misdiagnosis – rather like the review. I made a full recovery, unlike Cliff Bonanza, who died shortly after he wrote this: a washed-up hopeless drug addict and (secret) cross-dresser.
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The Daily Mail, October 1981
Watership Down, adapted by Paris Nigr from the novel by Richard Adams (RCS)

Hot  bunnies  dominate  in  an  unconventional adaptation of the Richard Adams bestseller

I’m guessing that the recent success of David Bowie’s make up-free portrayal of the Elephant Man had a direct influence on this bizarre live-action production of Watership Down adapted from the bestselling novel of the same name. I hoped I’d eventually get used to the actors placing their hands to the side of their heads (throughout the three-hour performance) to mimic rabbit’s ears, but I didn’t. Roola Bingo was easily the stand-out cast member. She gave a very touching performance as Violet and very much stole the show. The movement and fight sequences had me sniggering into my programme, I’m ashamed to say, but it was the extraordinary use of Chas ’n’ Dave’s ‘Rabbit’ song (a recent hit in the pop charts) which I’m still trying to come up with a reasonable explanation for. Other cast members included the incomparable Steven Toast and Oliver Whatson. On a practical note, a (silent) fan or some basic air conditioning would have been welcome in the auditorium, as it was a stiflingly hot evening. In fact, I’m surprised some of the more mature audience members who were sitting around me weren’t carried out feet first.

– Watkins Winchester

Author’s Response: This initial rather lukewarm review soon gave way to a consensus that the play was actually rather good. I am described here as ‘incomparable’, and it was a role which I eventually made my own. Unfortunately, most of the other actors in the show couldn’t quite step up to the plate, so I didn’t get the support my performance deserved. Nevertheless, I still picked up a ‘Golden Cactus’ at the New Mexico Theatre/Barbecue Festival in Albuquerque when the play went on tour in the mid 1980s.
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The Oldie, May 1999

The Maiden’s Head (Royal Theatre, Northampton)

Modern interpretation of a much loved classic fails to impress

Warwick Kinnear’s debut play pops up again at the (sweltering) Royal Theatre, Northampton, but this time it’s very different. The first production staged in 1963 was quite a lavish affair with the kind of sumptuous sets and costumes one might expect to see in a Hollywood adaptation of a Shakespeare classic. This production, however, headed in the opposite direction, and went for what appeared to be a ‘grab whatever’s lying around backstage and just wear your own clothes’ approach. I’m guessing this was a deliberate decision, as it all looked very self-conscious. The story is a well known historic fiction centred around a theory that Mary Queen of Scots was not, in fact, beheaded, but escaped to leave a disguised, sycophantic maid-in-waiting to suffer the axe. It is, as an idea, interesting enough. The problem here is that the RCS’s current style of minimal everything (including acting, at times) doesn’t suit this grandly written piece. The performances are very varied, and nothing quite ‘gels’. The worst offender, I’m afraid to say, is the Maiden herself, played by Kal Knack, who shrieks so loudly at times I could feel the audience pucker. Steven Toast, whom I’ve never been a huge fan of in the past, came across quite confidently and gives the executioner a colourful character interpretation that I’m sure even the writer hadn’t considered. I do hope theatre moves away from this ‘jeans and t-shirt opt-out’ style, which is ironically now becoming a bit of a uniform for all RCS productions.

– Ruth Lingham

Author’s Response: I agree! It was a fairly shit production, and the ‘wear your own’ clothes idea didn’t work for me either. It all looked rather shoddy and amateurish, but I do offer this review as an example of a stand-out performance (mine) saving an otherwise unremarkable production. The author is also ‘spot-on’ about how an actor (me) can overcome mediocre writing by the sheer force of his personality. Ruth Lingham was three days short of her hundredth birthday when she wrote this, and I was so pleased with her appraisal that I sent her a congratulatory birthday telegram. In a return postcard, the elderly hack told me that the line about me (‘I’ve never been a huge fan of Steven Toast’) was inserted by The Oldie’s editor Richard Ingrams and had nothing to do with her. How disappointing from Ingrams. I suspect this has something to do with the fact that I sued him when he was the editor of Private Eye after he accused me in print of procuring an illegal abortion for **** when she was head of ****. In fact, I was not involved, and **** was the guilty party.104 Things became even more complicated when ******, a well known drug addict, asked ***** to *** ****, and *** ****** * ****** and his involvement with a paedophile ring in Scarborough. After his series with the BBC was nearing completion **** ***** ******. The sordid tale he told me defied belief. It also involved **** ***** *****. ****** ***** ***** ***** *****. ******, ******, the second series of which aired on the History Channel in 2006. ***** **** ***** ***** ******. ****, the military historian, **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** *****  **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** *****  **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** whiff of scandal. But on opening the files, *****  **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** in a crack house in the East End.  **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. ***** dead, so unable to take legal action, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** supporting act for The Rolling Stones on their 1973 tour of Canada. *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* *******  ***** **** *****, ****** *****official supplier of fresh dairy produce to the 2010 *** World Cup squad.


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, deviant well known to Scotland Yard ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** ***** 


 **** **** ******. *****, ******. ******* ******* **********, ****** *** ****** ******* ******* ***** **** *****, ****** *****




103Later a BBC Sports reporter.

104Names redacted after threat of legal action.
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3 October 1970


About FUCKING time!


5 October 1970

Re my previous brief – and somewhat robust – entry: at the time I wrote it, I was as ecstatic and emotional as a dog with two dicks. To explain: basically for the last two months I have been in the running for a role in Alfred Hitchcock’s new motion picture entitled Frisky (working title)105 At lunchtime two days ago, I received a phone call from my agent Jane Plough. Expecting the news to be bad (as is usually the case), I told Jane to get a ’kin move on as I had some boil-in-the-bag on the go.106 After a pointless discussion about an ongoing expenses claim relating to an aborted trip to Wales for the investiture of the Prince Wales in 1969,107 she eventually got to the point: during a brief conversation with Hitch’s assistant, she had been told that I had been selected to play the LEAD ROLE. I was impossibly excited! Before Jane had even finished the sentence, I hung up the phone108 and immediately rushed upstairs, where I had hidden, some years earlier, a (still working and loaded) Webley pistol dating from 1915. I grabbed the gun and literally leapt down the stairs and straight out into my tiny Meard Street garden. I ran into the centre of an unkempt flower bed – where I had once attempted unsuccessfully to grow marijuana – and in a celebration reminiscent of a scene from a crowded market square during an Arab–Israeli conflict, I rapidly let off all six shells into the clear blue Soho sky.

‘So what?’ (I hear you say). ‘Letting off a few rounds of gunfire in public is hardly a big deal.’ Well, I wish my immediate neighbours shared a similar relaxed view. Within minutes I heard what sounded like a gang of thieves breaking in through the back door. Before I could react, I was forcibly rugby-tackled to the ground and covered in what looked (and felt) like a tinfoil sheet. To be absolutely honest, I assumed I was being kidnapped. I guessed this must be the crazed scheme of a jealous actor – possibly Ray Purchase – who coveted the juicy role in the Hitchcock film and had decided to take me out of the picture. On the way to what I imagined was going to be a secret hideout, I was, while still covered with tinfoil, kicked quite hard several times and called a ‘stupid c**t’. I felt this was unnecessary under the circumstances, as I hadn’t put up any real resistance – although I did cry a bit. It wasn’t until we arrived at our destination and the tinfoil was removed that I noticed the men’s uniforms. I suddenly realised I was under arrest.


My nose had begun to bleed a great deal due to a couple of the eager young rozzers’ kicks. Their response to my complaints was heartless: I was told to use my own sock to wipe off the blood. (I must point out here that the way the police dealt with one in 1970 is very different to how they treat one now; unless, of course, you’re coloured, are on a protest march, or are a suspected terrorist who has already begun to take flight.)


Within the hour, I was formally charged with ‘criminally insightful behaviour’ (I think) and having no licence for the antique revolver. I then had my belt ripped off my trousers and was thrown – and I mean THROWN – into a tiny holding cell.


After another four hours, three minutes and twenty-six seconds waiting in the cell, I was taken into a small room with a half-table and three chairs. Two plain-clothes types then came in through separate doors and stood over me. I was asked my name, which annoyed me greatly (I was a VERY familiar face on TV at the time), and I made some remarks about ‘three years at RADA being wasted’ and ‘I bet O’Toole isn’t ever asked that question’. This either annoyed them or went straight over their heads, but they certainly weren’t pleased. Next, I was grabbed by the testicles, pulled up roughly from my seat, turned completely upside down and colourfully told not to ‘come the c***!’ It wasn’t like this on Z Cars!


After another nine hours of questioning, I had managed to convince these shaven apes that I wasn’t in fact part of any political party (apart from the Conservatives109) and that the gun had been given to me by my brother Blair. (It had originally belonged to my father when he served in World War I.) My main tactic was to convince them that the weapon had no connection to either the IRA or Oliver Reed.


Thankfully it worked.


Jane arrived shortly after midnight, and I was released back into the community.


6 October 1970


Just after breakfast, I got a call from the Hitchcock costume people asking for my measurements. I asked about a blue blazer that I knew the LEAD CHARACTER would be wearing in many scenes in the movie. ‘Blue?’ the lady responded, seeming genuinely puzzled. ‘Brown, surely?’


Before I could argue the point, there was a kerfuffle on the other end, the phone was snatched from the lady I’d been speaking to, and suddenly I heard another voice. This person apologised for disturbing me, then abruptly hung up. I thought little of this incident at the time and went about my business. At about 1.15 p.m., I received another call from my good (actor) friend Jon Finch, who informed me that he had also just been cast in the film! We were both delighted. Jon was happy to get a decent movie role, and I was pleased for the chance to work with an old pal again and to have the LEAD ROLE. What could go wrong!!!??!110 I said I’d see him ‘on the green’ (an old theatrical expression meaning ‘at work’).


7 October 1970


First day on set.


Car picked me up at 6 a.m. to take me to Shepperton Studios for the first day of principal photography. I arrived outside the studios and was promptly handed a bacon sandwich and shown to my dressing room. It wasn’t until after I’d used the latrine that I noticed a brown blazer hanging from my wardrobe rail. I immediately stepped outside the room to examine my door. I noticed there was a scrap of paper attached to it with the name ‘ROBERT’ (Jon Finch’s character’s name) written on it. I’m in the wrong bloody dressing room! I thought. An easy mistake to make this early in the morning, I reckoned, so I grabbed my satchel and looked around for my own dressing room. Soon enough, I found a door with ‘RICHARD’ pinned to it. I attempted to enter before discovering the door was locked. I instinctively knocked twice and heard a very timid-sounding voice say, ‘Who is it?’


I paused before answering this question with a question of my own. 


‘Who are you?’


‘Is that you, Toast?’ the voice behind the door enquired.


‘Yes,’ I said. ‘Is that you, Jon?’


‘It is,’ the voice answered. ‘Look, Steven, I think you’d better go and see Hitch . . .’


Looking back on those diary entries after an interlude of almost fifty years, I can still feel the frustration. Jon had nabbed the lead role and went on to great fame as a result. It was not his fault; Hitchcock had made the decision, and I have no doubt if the roles had been reversed I would have done the same. I didn’t eventually work on the movie at all. Disillusioned, and also struck by a double-dose of gonorrhoea and kidney stones, I licked my wounds and went to work in rep on the Isle of Wight. 


But that year of 1970 was not to prove entirely unproductive. I had taken quite a fancy to a fun-loving (and very attractive) lady called Anne, whom I met through a casting agency that Hitch used on the movie. Anne and I spent many happy afternoons having lots of good times in Soho pubs and clubs, and I clearly remember attending a performance of Kenneth Tynan’s notorious Oh Calcutta! at the Roundhouse.111 I admit I found this all-nude (or, as Anne remarked, ‘all-rude!’) production a bit of a ‘turn-on’, and after the show we retired to Anne’s flat in Hampstead for a full weekend of no-holds-barred intense lovemaking. I recall the only times we left the bed were to make toast and tea and tune into the BBC’s updates on the perilous return journey to Earth of Apollo 13. I liked Anne immensely, but she found out through Keith Michell (at that time having a huge success in The Six Wives of Henry VIII on the BBC) that I was also having a relationship with either Sally or Judy Geeson (I can’t remember which) at exactly the same time. As Anne felt she was unwilling to share her lover with either of the talented sisters/actresses,112 our relationship soon cooled. 


I felt I had been close to Anne, but not close enough 
that I ever found out her surname. She was one of many girlfriends I had at the time, and, to be honest, after a while one began to literally blur into another. But my relationship with Anne was to have one curious and unexpected consequence. Soon after the publication of the hardback edition of this book, I received a letter from somebody called Damian, who lived in Wolverhampton. The contents of his missive shocked me to the core. Dear reader, you can probably guess this stranger’s reason for writing to me: yes – he claimed to be my son. My first reaction was an obvious one: does he intend to ‘fuck me over’ in some way? Is he a journalist masquerading as my child, hoping to embarrass and humiliate me? I did the responsible thing and ignored his letter for several weeks. But somewhere at the back of my mind was the thought: suppose he really is my son? I wasn’t aware that I had any other children, so maybe I should meet this one? A simple blood test (which he could pay for) would provide the answer one way or another. I decided to meet him.


I was exceedingly nervous as I waited for Damian in the Colonial. Several brandies had been consumed, and I was unmistakably suffering from a case of the jitters – and, indeed, the skitters. I had the thought – maybe I should just go home and forget the whole thing? At that moment, a stranger walked through the door and exchanged some words with Ian, the barman. I was actually somewhat relieved when I saw this fellow, as I was sure he could not be my son. The image I had formulated in my head was that of an athletic, good-looking youth – very like the actor Ben Whishaw, for example. But the grown man who now approached me after Ian had pointed in my direction was hunchbacked, stocky of build and wheezing from what I guessed was a chronic lung condition. And yet this character immediately introduced himself as Damian. Of course, I had failed to ‘do the math’. My offspring would of course be a middle-aged man in his forties, not a handsome youth in his late teens or early twenties. I was flabbergasted. This character looked like my own father, complete with moustache and hearing aid. I was very taken aback, but as the chap had come down from Wolverhampton by National Express, the least I could do was buy him a drink. 


We chatted for a while, somewhat uncertainly at first, but then we began to open up a little bit with each other. My son had certainly been on an interesting life journey. Anne had raised him on her own, but after she landed a job as a researcher on the BBC’s That’s Life programme, he was mostly left alone in the house to fend for himself. Not surprisingly, he soon developed a rebellious nature and ran away from home at the age of five. He moved to Berlin, where, on the U-Bahn subway train, he ran into ex-Roxy Music keyboard player and all-round ‘nut job’ Brian Eno. The balding ambient genius was at the time producing David Bowie’s Low album and suggested that Damian could come to the studio and help out by doing odd jobs and chores and playing some synthesiser. (Low was a particularly ‘synth-heavy’ album.) Damian agreed and signed up for a six-month period of work experience. He told me that this proved to be a very odd period. For example, he once came across Bowie and Iggy Pop (who lived with David at the time) in the studio experimenting on a human liver that had just been taken from a corpse. I have to say, if I had been on the scene I would have been sorely tempted to remove Damian from the drugs-heavy environment of mid 1970s Berlin, especially with two combustible characters like Messrs Bowie and Pop around. However, as I was unaware of my son’s existence, there was little I could do. 


Luckily, Damian, by his early twenties, had got his act together and by 1991 was assistant manager at a branch of Ratner’s jewellers in Brixton. Unluckily, however, this 
soon went ‘tits up’ after a speech by the company’s chief executive, Gerald Ratner, during which he mocked his own products and insinuated that anyone who bought them was insane. This resulted in the closure of every Ratner’s jewellery store in Britain overnight. Damian was forced to move on once again. After short spells in the merchant navy, the Salvation Army and a touring version of Jesus Christ Superstar (playing synthesiser onstage as the character Judas Iscariot), in more recent years he had moved to Wolverhampton, where, after losing a job as an Internet bingo caller, found himself on the dole. 


I really didn’t know what to say to him about this catalogue of misery, misfortune and disappointment that he laid bare in front of me. It was rather a lot to take in. I could see his hand was shaking, so I bought him another Baileys with vodka and Coke – his somewhat odd drink of choice. When I returned, we sat silently for a while, neither of us knowing how to continue the conversation. At one stage, I reached out and held his hand. This fell both odd and inappropriate, and not just because he was wearing oven gloves. There must have been twenty minutes of complete silence – although at one stage he complained gruffly that they didn’t sell roasted peanuts behind the bar. Things were very tense. But I really should have known, through bitter experience, what was coming next. Damian slowly raised his head and mumbled at me, ‘Would you have a loan of some money?’


Of course. I should have seen this coming: my long-lost son was just another freeloading bastard trying to leech off my success. With the help of Ian, I immediately slung him out on to the street. He had wasted my time with his self-pity and whining. He had come in search of cash when what he really needed was a rocket up his arse.


With any luck, I’ll never see him again.







105 Eventually re-titled Frenzy.

106 Boil-in-the bag rice: an exciting new invention in the 1970s.

107 I was meant to take part in a Welsh-themed pageant with Tom Jones
and Max Boyce. There was a row over expenses, blows were
exchanged, and for years Jane had to try to clean up the mess. A
settlement was finally reached in 2005.

108 Not an unusual occurrence in my many phone conversations with
Jane. They were generally very long, relentless, confusing, rambling,
incoherent and pointless.

109 A brief flirtation: I left after Britain joined the EEC in 1973. Since
then, I have hated all politicians.

110 Everything.

111 See earlier chapter ‘The Bohemian’.

112 One of the most insane inroads that the PC brigade have made into
the acting profession in recent years is that some actresses now
object to the term actresses. (Which is just the same as a coal miner
objecting to the term coal miner.) These liberated ladies would
rather be called actors. What are we now to do when it comes to
prestigious awards ceremonies such as the Academy Awards or the
BAFTAs? Are we to have the likes of Stephen Fry announcing the
award for ‘best actor in a male role’ and ‘best actor in a female
role’?????? The whole thing is absurd and sickening beyond belief.
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